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Accounting Policies 
 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted for use in 
the European Union (EU) and therefore comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS legislation and with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 
that are applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with IFRS 
and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations issued and effective at the time of preparing 
these accounts. 

The principal Group accounting policies are explained below and have been applied consistently throughout the years ended  
28 March 2015 and 29 March 2014 other than those noted below. 

The Group accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except as described below under the heading 
‘Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting’. 

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations that are potentially relevant to 
the Group, and which have not been applied in these financial statements, were in issue but not yet effective (and in some cases had 
not yet been adopted by the EU): 

 IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments: Classification and measurement’ – effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2018.  

 IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ – effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.  
 IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (amended) ‘Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture’ – effective 

for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.  
 IAS 16 and IAS 38 (amended) ‘Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation’ – effective for accounting 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 
 IAS19 (amended) ‘Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions’ – effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 

1 July 2014. 
 Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle – effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, specifically 

amendments to IFRS 2 ‘Share Based Payments’ and IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’. 
 Annual Improvements 2011-2013 – effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, specifically amendments 

to IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ and IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’. 
 Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle – effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, specifically 

amendments to IAS 34 ‘Interim Financial Reporting’. 
 IFRIC 22 ‘Levies’ – effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 17 June 2014. 
 Amendments to IAS 1 – effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 
 Amendments to IAS 27 ‘Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements’ – applicable for accounting periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2016. 
 Amendments to IFRS 11 ‘Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations’ – applicable for accounting periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 

The Directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will have no material impact on  
the financial statements of the Group except for IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, which will introduce a number of changes in the 
presentation of financial instruments, and IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’, which may change the timing of 
revenue recognition for some companies within the Group. 

The following Standards with an effective date of 1 January 2014 have been adopted without any significant impact on the amounts 
reported in these financial statements: 
 
IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ 
IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 (amended) ‘Investment Entities’ 
IFRS 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’ 
IAS 12 (amended) ‘Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets’ 
IAS 27 (revised) ‘Separate Financial Statements’ 
IAS 28 (revised) ‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’ 
IAS 32 (amended) ‘Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities’ 
IAS 39 (amended) ‘Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting’ 

 

Below we set out our key accounting policies, with a list of all other accounting policies thereafter. 

The Directors have, at the time of approving the financial statements, a high level of confidence that despite the current economic 
uncertainty the Company has the necessary liquid resources to meet its liabilities as they fall due and will be able to sustain its 
business model, strategy and operations and remain solvent for the foreseeable future. Thus, the Directors continue to adopt the 
going concern basis in preparing these financial statements. Further detail is contained on page 65. 
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Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control 
is transferred to the Group. The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as: 

 the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus 
 the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus 
 the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree; less 
 the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, are expensed as incurred.  
Any contingent consideration payable may be accounted for as either: 

a) Consideration transferred, which is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent purchase consideration is 
classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes to the fair 
value of the contingent purchase consideration are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement; or 

b) Remuneration, which is expensed in the Income Statement over the associated period of service. An indicator of such treatment 
includes when payments to employees of the acquired company are contingent on a post-acquisition event, but may be 
automatically forfeited on termination of employment.  

For acquisitions between 4 April 2004 (the date from which the financial statements were reported under IFRS) and 2 April 2010, 
goodwill represents the difference between the cost of the acquisition, including acquisition costs and the fair value of the net 
identifiable assets acquired. Goodwill is not amortised, but is tested annually for impairment. 

Goodwill is recognised as an intangible asset in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Goodwill therefore includes non-identified  
intangible assets including business processes, buyer-specific synergies, know-how and workforce-related industry-specific 
knowledge and technical skills. Negative goodwill arising on acquisitions would be recognised directly in the Consolidated Income 
Statement. On closure or disposal of an acquired business, goodwill would be taken into account in determining the profit or loss  
on closure or disposal. 

As permitted by IFRS 1, the Group elected not to apply IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ to acquisitions prior to 4 April 2004 in its 
consolidated accounts. As a result, the net book value of goodwill recognised as an intangible asset under UK GAAP at 3 April 2004 
was brought forward unadjusted as the cost of goodwill recognised under IFRS at 4 April 2004 subject to impairment testing on that 
date; and goodwill that was written off to reserves prior to 28 March 1998 under UK GAAP will not be taken into account in 
determining the profit or loss on disposal or closure of previously acquired businesses from 4 April 2004 onwards. 

Research expenditure is written off in the financial year in which it is incurred. 

Development expenditure is written off in the financial year in which it is incurred, unless it relates to the development of a new or 
substantially improved product, is incurred after the technical feasibility and economic viability of the product has been proven and the 
decision to complete the development has been taken, and can be measured reliably. Such expenditure is capitalised as an intangible 
asset in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at cost and is amortised through the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight-line basis 
over its estimated economic life of three years. 

An intangible resource acquired with a subsidiary undertaking is recognised as an intangible asset if it is separable from the 
acquired business or arises from contractual or legal rights, is expected to generate future economic benefits and its fair value  
can be measured reliably. Acquired intangible assets, comprising trademarks and customer relationships, are amortised through 
the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight-line basis over their estimated economic lives of between three and ten years. 

The Group makes contributions to various pension plans, covering the majority of its employees. 

For defined benefit plans, the asset or liability recorded in the balance sheet is the difference between the fair value of the plan’s 
assets and the present value of the defined obligation at that date. The defined benefit obligation is calculated separately  
for each plan on an annual basis by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. 

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the period in which they occur, and are taken to Other comprehensive income. 

Current and past service costs, along with the impact of any settlements or curtailments, are charged to the Consolidated Income 
Statement. Interest on pension plans’ liabilities are recognised within finance expense and the expected return on the plans’ assets 
are recognised within finance income in the Consolidated Income Statement. 

Contributions to defined contribution plans are charged to the Consolidated Income Statement when they fall due. 

The preparation of Group accounts in conformity with IFRS requires the Directors to make judgments, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experiences and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under  
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that  
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

Accounting Policies continued
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Accounting Policies continued
 

The following four areas of key estimation uncertainty and critical accounting judgment have been identified as having significant risk  
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the next financial year: 

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of cash generating units (CGUs) to which goodwill 
has been allocated. In turn, the value in use calculation involves an estimation of the present value of future cash flows of CGUs. The 
future cash flows are based on annual budgets, as approved by the Board, to which the management’s expectation of market-share 
and long-term growth rates are applied. The present value is then calculated based on management’s judgment of future discount 
rates. The Board reviews these key assumptions (market-share, long-term growth rates, and discount rates) and the sensitivity 
analysis around these assumptions. Further details are provided in note 11.  

IFRS 3 (revised) ‘Business Combinations’ requires that goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is capitalised and included in 
intangible assets. IFRS 3 (revised) also requires the identification of other intangible assets at acquisition. The assumptions involved  
in valuing these intangible assets require the use of estimates and judgments which may differ from the actual outcome.  

IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’ requires that development costs, arising from the application of research findings or other technical 
knowledge to a plan or design of a new or substantially improved product, are capitalised, subject to certain criteria being met. 
Determining the technical feasibility and estimating the future cash flows generated by the products in development requires 
judgments which may differ from the actual outcome. 

The estimates and judgments made in relation to both acquired intangible assets and capitalised development costs, cover future 
growth rates, expected inflation rates and the discount rate used. 

Determining the value of contingent consideration recognised as part of the acquisition of subsidiaries requires assumptions 
to determine the expected performance of the acquired business and the amount of contingent consideration that will therefore 
become payable. Initial estimates of expected performance are made by the Directors responsible for completing the acquisition 
and form a key component of the financial due diligence that takes place prior to completion. Subsequent measurement of contingent 
consideration is based on the Directors’ appraisal of the acquired business’ performance in the post-acquisition period with any 
required adjustments to the amount payable recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement as required under IFRS 3. Further 
details are provided in note 24. 

Determining the value of the future defined benefit obligation requires judgment in respect of the assumptions used to calculate 
present values. These include future mortality, discount rate, inflation and salary increases. Management makes these judgments in 
consultation with an independent actuary. Details of the judgments made in calculating these transactions are disclosed in note 28. 

The Group accounts include the accounts of Halma plc and all of its subsidiary companies made up to 28 March 2015, adjusted to 
eliminate intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses. The results of subsidiary companies acquired or discontinued are 
included from the month of their acquisition or to the month of their discontinuation. 

An associate is an entity over which the Group is in a position to exercise significant influence, but not control or joint control, through 
participation in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee. Significant influence is the power to participate in the 
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but without control or joint control over those policies. 

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method of 
accounting. Investments in associates are carried in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at cost as adjusted by post-acquisition  
changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of individual investments. Losses  
of an associate in excess of the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part  
of the Group’s net investment in the associate) are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. 

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the fair values of the identifiable net assets of the associate at the  
date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed 
for impairment as part of that investment. Any deficiency of the cost of acquisition below the Group’s share of the fair values of the 
identifiable net assets of the associate at the date of acquisition (i.e. discount on acquisition) is credited in profit or loss in the year  
of acquisition.  

Where a Group company transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 
interest in the relevant associate. Losses may provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred in which case appropriate 
provision is made for impairment.  
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Computer software that is not integral to an item of property, plant or equipment is recognised separately as an intangible asset, and 
is amortised through the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight-line basis over its estimated economic life of between three 
and five years. 

Other intangibles are amortised through the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight-line basis over their estimated economic 
lives of between three and five years. 

All non-current assets are tested for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that their carrying value may be impaired. 
Additionally, goodwill and capitalised development expenditure relating to a product that is not yet in full production are subject to an 
annual impairment test. 

An impairment loss is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement to the extent that an asset’s carrying value exceeds its 
recoverable amount, which represents the higher of the asset’s net realisable value and its value in use. An asset’s value in use 
represents the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset or from the cash generating unit to  
which it relates. The present value is calculated using a discount rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time  
value of money and the risks specific to the asset concerned. 

Impairment losses recognised in previous periods for an asset other than goodwill are reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not 
exceed its carrying amount had no impairment loss been recognised in previous periods. Impairment losses in respect of goodwill  
are not reversed. 

An operating segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, and whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the Chief Operating Decision Maker (the Chief 
Executive) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete 
financial information is available. 

Reportable segments are operating segments that either meet the thresholds and conditions set out in IFRS 8 or are considered  
by the Board to be appropriately designated as reportable segments. Segment result represents operating profits and includes an 
allocation of Head Office expenses. Segment result excludes tax and financing items. Segment assets comprise goodwill, other 
intangible assets, property, plant and equipment (excluding land and buildings), inventories, trade and other receivables. Segment 
liabilities comprise trade and other payables, provisions and other payables. Unallocated items represent land and buildings,  
corporate and deferred taxation balances, defined benefit plan liabilities, contingent purchase consideration, all components 
of net cash/borrowings and derivative financial instruments. 

Inventories and work in progress are included at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated either on a ‘first in, 
first out’ or an average cost basis and includes direct materials and the appropriate proportion of production and other overheads 
considered by the Directors to be attributable to bringing the inventories to their location and condition at the year end. Net 
realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs to complete and costs to be incurred in marketing, 
selling and distribution. 

Revenue represents sales, less returns, by subsidiary companies to external customers excluding value added tax and other sales 
related taxes. Transactions are recorded as revenue when the delivery of products or performance of services takes place in 
accordance with the contracted terms of sale.  

Revenue on long-term contracts is recognised while the contracts are in progress. Revenue is recognised proportionally to the stage 
of completion of the contract, based on the fair value of goods and services provided to date, taking into account the sign-off of 
milestone delivery by customers. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss  
is recognised as an expense immediately. 

When items of income or expense are material and they are relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial performance, 
they are disclosed separately within the financial statements. Such adjusting items include material costs or reversals arising from 
acquisitions or disposals of businesses, including acquisition costs, material creation or reversals of provisions related to changes 
in estimates for contingent consideration on acquisition, amortisation of acquired intangible assets, and other one-off items that 
may arise. 
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Taxation comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement except to the extent that it 
relates to items recognised directly in Shareholders’ funds, in which case it too is recognised in Shareholders’ funds. Current tax is the 
expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or subsequently enacted at the balance sheet date, 
along with any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the 
Consolidated Income Statement because it excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. 

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method, apart from  
the following differences which are not provided for: goodwill not deductible for tax purposes; the initial recognition of assets or 
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent they  
will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of 
realisation or settlement of the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, using tax rates and laws, which are expected to apply  
in the year when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that recovery  
is probable. 

The Group presents its accounts in Sterling. Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange at the date of 
the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are reported at the rates 
prevailing at that date. Any gain or loss arising from subsequent exchange rate movements is included as an exchange gain or loss in 
the Consolidated Income Statement. 

Net assets of overseas subsidiary companies are expressed in Sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at the end of the financial 
year, and trading results and cash flows at the average rates of exchange for the financial year. Goodwill arising on the acquisition 
of a foreign business is treated as an asset of the foreign entity and is translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the 
financial year. Exchange gains or losses arising on these translations are taken to the Hedging and translation reserve within 
Shareholders’ funds. 

In the event that an overseas subsidiary is disposed of or closed, the profit or loss on disposal or closure will be determined after 
taking into account the cumulative translation difference held within the Hedging and translation reserve attributable to that subsidiary. 
As permitted by IFRS 1, the Group has elected to deem the Hedging and translation to be £nil at 4 April 2004. Accordingly, the  
profit or loss on disposal or closure of foreign subsidiaries will not include any currency translation differences which arose before  
4 April 2004. 

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to foreign exchange rate risk using forward exchange 
contracts. Further details of derivative financial instruments are disclosed in note 26. 

Derivative financial instruments are classified as fair value through profit and loss (held for trading) unless they are in a designated 
hedge relationship. 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to 
their fair value at each balance sheet date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement, unless the 
derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in the Consolidated Income 
Statement depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. The Group designates certain derivatives as hedges of highly probable 
forecast transactions or hedges of foreign currency risk of firm commitments (cash flow hedges), or hedges of net investments in 
foreign operations.  

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative fair value is recognised as  
a financial liability. A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument 
is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current 
assets or current liabilities. 
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Accounting Policies continued
 

The Group designates certain hedging instruments as cash flow hedges.  

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the entity documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged 
item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the 
inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument has been or is expected  
to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item.  

Note 26 sets out details of the fair values of the derivative instruments used for hedging purposes and the movements in the hedging 
reserve in equity. 

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in 
Other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion as a result of being over hedged is recognised 
immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement.  

Amounts previously recognised in Other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to the Consolidated 
Income Statement in the periods when the hedged item is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement. However, when the 
forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses 
previously accumulated in equity are transferred from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the non-financial 
asset or non-financial liability.  

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, 
terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any gain or loss recognised in Other comprehensive income  
at that time is accumulated in equity and is recognised, when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised, in the Consolidated 
Income Statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised 
immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement.  

The Group uses foreign currency denominated borrowings as a hedge against the translation exposure on the Group’s net investment 
in overseas companies. Where the hedge is fully effective at hedging the variability in the net assets of such companies caused by 
changes in exchange rates, the changes in value of the borrowings are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and 
accumulated in the Hedging and translation reserve. The ineffective part of any change in value caused by changes in exchange rates 
is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement. 

Share-based incentives are provided to employees under the Group’s share incentive plan, the share option plans and the 
performance share plan. 

Awards of shares under the share incentive plan are made to qualifying employees depending on salary and service criteria. The 
shares awarded under this plan are purchased in the market by the plan’s trustees at the time of the award, and are then held in trust 
for a minimum of three years. The costs of this plan are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement over the three-year vesting 
periods of the awards. 

All grants of options under the 1999 company share option plan are equity settled, and so, as permitted by IFRS 1, the provisions  
of IFRS 2 ‘Share-Based Payment’ have been applied only to options awarded on or after 7 November 2002 which had not vested  
at 3 April 2005. 

The fair value of awards under this plan has been measured at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model and will not be 
subsequently remeasured. The fair value is charged to the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the expected 
vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will ultimately vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market-based 
vesting conditions. The corresponding credit is to Shareholders’ funds. 

No further awards will be made under the share option plan. 

On 3 August 2005 the share option plan was replaced by the performance share plan. 

Awards under this plan are partly equity-settled and partly cash-settled, and are subject to both market-based and non-market-based 
vesting criteria.  

The fair value of the equity-settled portion at the date of grant is established by using an appropriate simulation method to reflect the 
likelihood of market-based performance conditions being met. The fair value is charged to the Consolidated Income Statement on a 
straight-line basis over the vesting period, with appropriate adjustments being made during this period to reflect expected and actual 
forfeitures arising from the non-market-based performance conditions only. The corresponding credit is to Shareholders’ funds. 

For the cash-settled portion, a liability equal to the portion of the services received is recognised at the current fair value determined at 
each balance sheet date. 

Accounting Policies continued
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Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that 
the Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the balance 
sheet date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash 
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of the cash flows.  

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a  
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable  
can be measured reliably. 

Government grant income that is linked to capital expenditure is deferred to the Consolidated Balance Sheet and credited to the 
Consolidated Income Statement over the life of the related asset. In addition, the Group claims research and development expenditure 
credits arising on qualifying expenditure in its UK-based subsidiaries and shows these ‘above the line’ in Operating profit. Where the 
credits arise on expenditure that is capitalised as part of Internally generated capitalised development costs, the income is deferred to 
the Consolidated Balance Sheet and credited to the Consolidated Income Statement over the life of the related asset in line with the 
policy stated above. 

Operating profit is stated after charging restructuring costs but before the share of results of associates, profit or loss on disposal of 
operations, finance income and finance costs. 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, deposits with an initial maturity of less than three months, and bank overdrafts 
that are repayable on demand.  

Dividends payable to the Company’s shareholders are recognised as a liability in the period in which the distribution is approved by 
the Company’s shareholders. 

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less provisions for impairment and depreciation which, with the exception  
of freehold land which is not depreciated, is provided on a straight-line basis over each asset’s estimated economic life. The principal 
annual rates used for this purpose are: 

Leases that confer rights and obligations similar to those that attach to owned assets are classified as finance leases, of which the 
Group has none. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

Operating lease rentals, and any incentives receivable, are charged to the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. 

 

Freehold property 2%

Leasehold properties: 

Long leases (more than 50 years unexpired) 2%

Short leases (less than 50 years unexpired) Period of lease

Plant, equipment and vehicles 8% to 33.3%
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Notes to the Accounts 
 

The Group has four main reportable segments (Process Safety, Infrastructure Safety, Medical, and Environmental & Analysis),  
which are defined by markets rather than product type. Each segment includes businesses with similar operating and marketing 
characteristics. These segments are consistent with the internal reporting as reviewed by the Chief Executive.  

Inter-segmental sales are charged at prevailing market prices and have not been disclosed separately by segment as they are not 
considered material. The Group does not analyse revenue by product group and has no material revenue derived from the rendering 
of services. 

* Adjustments include the amortisation of acquired intangible assets; acquisition items; profit or loss on disposal of operations; the effects of closure to future benefit 
accrual of the defined benefit pension plans net of associated costs (prior year only); and the associated taxation thereon. 

** The defined benefit plan referred to here is the Halma Group Pension Plan only, which is not practical to allocate by sector (see adjustments table on page 113 for 
more details). 

 
Revenue (all continuing 

operations)

 

52 weeks to 
28 March 

2015 
£000 

52 weeks to 
29 March 

2014 
£000 

Process Safety 158,372 126,704

Infrastructure Safety 234,063 220,254

Medical 169,333 163,181

Environmental & Analysis 164,412 166,547

Inter-segmental sales (46) (180)

Revenue for the year 726,134 676,506

 
Profit (all continuing 

 operations)

 

52 weeks to 
28 March 

2015 
£000 

52 weeks to 
29 March 

2014 
£000 

Segment profit before allocation of adjustments*  

Process Safety 44,772 34,878

Infrastructure Safety 49,992 44,445

Medical 45,385 41,826

Environmental & Analysis 27,403 31,740

 167,552 152,889

Segment profit after allocation of adjustments*  

Process Safety 40,280 34,125

Infrastructure Safety 49,585 45,010

Medical 31,981 41,554

Environmental & Analysis 25,699 27,574

Segment profit 147,545 148,263

Central administration costs excluding the effects of closure to future benefit accrual of the defined 
benefit pension plan net of associated costs** (8,988) (7,922)

Effects of closure to future benefit accrual of the defined benefit pension plan net of associated costs** – 3,054

Net finance expense (4,946) (4,718)

Group profit before taxation 133,611 138,677

Taxation (29,610) (32,350)

Profit for the year 104,001 106,327

Notes to the Accounts
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The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Acquisition transaction costs, 
release of fair value adjustments to inventory and adjustments to contingent consideration (collectively ‘acquisition items’) are 
recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement. Segment profit, before these acquisition items and the other adjustments, is 
disclosed separately above as this is the measure reported to the Chief Executive for the purpose of allocation of resources and 
assessment of segment performance. 

These adjustments are analysed as follows: 

The transaction costs arose mainly on the acquisitions (see note 24) of Rohrback Cosasco Systems Inc. (RCS), Advanced Electronics 
Limited (Advanced) and Plasticspritzerei AG, which were acquired on 30 May 2014, 14 May 2014 and 2 May 2014 respectively. 
The charge of £1,581,000 to contingent consideration related mainly to a revision in the estimate of the remaining MST payable from 
$6,504,000 to $9,061,000. The £2,303,000 credit to contingent consideration related to a revision in the estimate of the remaining 
ASL payable from £2,500,000 to £197,000. The release of fair value adjustments to inventory arises from revaluing the inventory of 
RCS and Advanced at acquisition.  

* The effects of closure to future benefit accrual of defined benefit pension plans, which were gains of £894,000 and £3,054,000, arose on the closure of the  
Apollo Pension and Life Assurance Plan and Halma Group Pension Plan respectively. It is not practical to apportion the latter gain by Segment. 

The £12,456,000 credit to contingent consideration related mainly to a revision in the estimate of the MicroSurgical Technology, Inc. 
payable from US$25,000,000 to US$6,504,000. 

 

  

       2015 

  Acquisition items    

 

Amortisation 
of acquired 

intangible 
assets 

£000 

Transaction 
costs 
£000 

Adjustments 
to contingent 
consideration 

£000 

Release of 
fair value 

adjustments 
to inventory 

£000 

Total 
amortisation 

charge and 
acquisition 

items 
£000 

 
 Disposal of 
operations 

 (note 29) 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Process Safety (3,026) (928) – (538) (4,492) – (4,492)

Infrastructure Safety (765) (486) (102) (130) (1,483) 1,076 (407)

Medical (12,156) (21) (1,581) – (13,758) 354 (13,404)

Environmental & Analysis (4,007) – 2,303 – (1,704) – (1,704)

Total Segment & Group (19,954) (1,435) 620 (668) (21,437) 1,430 (20,007)

       2014 

  Acquisition items     

 

Amortisation 
of acquired 

intangible 
assets  
£000 

Transaction 
costs 
£000 

Adjustments 
to contingent 
consideration 

£000 

Total 
amortisation 
charge and 
acquisition 

items 
£000 

Disposal of 
operations 

 (note 29) 
£000 

Effects of 
closure to 

future benefit 
 accrual of 

 defined 
 benefit 

 pension 
 plans*
£000 

Total 
£000 

Process Safety (598) – (17) (615) (138) – (753)

Infrastructure Safety (144) (140) – (284) (45) 894 565 

Medical (12,530) 102 12,456 28 (300) – (272)

Environmental & Analysis (4,243) (53) 130 (4,166) – – (4,166)

Total Segment (17,515) (91) 12,569 (5,037) (483) 894 (4,626)

Central administration costs – – – – – 3,054 3,054

Total Group (17,515) (91) 12,569 (5,037) (483) 3,948 (1,572)

113Halma plc Annual Report and Accounts 2015

S
trategic R

ep
ort 

G
overnance 

Financial S
tatem

ents 



1 Segmental analysis continued 
Segment assets and liabilities 

Other segment information 
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Notes to the Accounts continued
 

 

Segment assets and liabilities, excluding the allocation of goodwill, interests in associates and acquired intangible assets, have been 
disclosed separately above as this is the measure reported to the Chief Executive for the purpose of monitoring segment performance 
and allocating resources between segments. Other unallocated assets include land and buildings and tax assets, and unallocated 
liabilities include contingent purchase consideration, retirement benefit provisions and tax liabilities. 

Non-current asset additions comprise acquired and purchased goodwill, other intangible assets and property, plant and equipment.  

An impairment loss of £236,000 was recognised during the year within Environmental & Analysis (2014: £nil). 

  Assets  Liabilities 

Before goodwill, interests in associates and acquired intangible assets are 
allocated to specific segment assets/liabilities 

2015 
£000 

2014  
£000 

2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Process Safety 65,141 50,518 21,842 18,463

Infrastructure Safety 97,424 88,688 33,112 28,896

Medical 62,981 54,428 23,947 18,457

Environmental & Analysis 72,599 68,866 26,288 26,413

Total segment assets/liabilities excluding goodwill, interests in 
associates and acquired intangible assets 298,145 262,500 105,189 92,229 

Goodwill 406,190 335,278 – –

Interests in associates 4,236 5,088 – –

Acquired intangible assets 119,541 96,955 – –

Total segment assets/liabilities including goodwill, interests in 
associates and acquired intangible assets 828,112 699,821 105,189 92,229 

  Assets  Liabilities 

After goodwill, interests in associates and acquired intangible assets are 
allocated to specific segment assets/liabilities 

2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Process Safety 154,677 68,428 21,842 18,463

Infrastructure Safety 191,351 170,540 33,112 28,896

Medical 286,990 275,109 23,947 18,457

Environmental & Analysis 194,744 185,744 26,288 26,413

Total segment assets/liabilities including goodwill 
and acquired intangible assets 827,762 699,821 105,189 92,229 

Cash and bank balances/borrowings 41,230 34,531 142,124 109,027

Derivative financial instruments 1,069 496 636 167

Other unallocated assets/liabilities 72,472 54,776 145,636 102,201

Total Group 942,533 789,624 393,585 303,624

 
Additions to  

non-current assets  
Depreciation and 

amortisation 

 
2015 
£000 

2014  
£000 

2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Process Safety 71,846 4,403 6,743 3,872

Infrastructure Safety 28,995 10,311 8,490 6,458

Medical 13,403 4,575 15,509 15,742

Environmental & Analysis 5,499 6,209 9,708 9,733

Total segment additions/depreciation and amortisation 119,743 25,498 40,450 35,805

Unallocated 513 354 461 505

Total Group 120,256 25,852 40,911 36,310

Notes to the Accounts continued
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Geographic information 

Information about major customers 

2 Earnings per ordinary share 
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The Group’s revenue from external customers (by location of customer) and its non-current assets by geographic location are 
detailed below: 

Non-current assets comprise goodwill, other intangible assets, investments in associates and property, plant and equipment.  

The Group had no revenue from a single customer, which accounts for more than 2% of the Group’s revenue.  

Basic earnings per ordinary share are calculated using the weighted average of 378,328,541 shares in issue during the year (net  
of shares purchased by the Company and held as treasury shares) (2014: 377,805,248). Diluted earnings per ordinary share are 
calculated using the weighted average of 378,475,804 shares (2014: 378,035,662), which includes dilutive potential ordinary shares 
of 147,263 (2014: 230,414). Dilutive potential ordinary shares are calculated from those exercisable share options where the exercise 
price is less than the average price of the Company’s ordinary shares during the year. 

Adjusted earnings are calculated as earnings from continuing operations excluding the amortisation of acquired intangible assets; 
acquisition items; profit or loss on disposal of operations; the effects of closure to future benefit accrual of the defined benefit pension 
plans net of associated costs (prior year only); and the associated taxation thereon. The Directors consider that adjusted earnings 
represent a more consistent measure of underlying performance. A reconciliation of earnings and the effect on basic earnings per 
share figures is as follows: 

  

 Revenue by destination Non-current assets 

 
2015 
£000 

2014  
£000 

2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

United States of America 223,374 214,493 72,766 63,996

Mainland Europe 167,363 163,707 29,836 28,134

United Kingdom 138,312 127,877 526,953 429,923

Asia Pacific 116,842 111,572 5,828 5,429

Africa, Near and Middle East 44,037 33,037 – –

Other countries 36,206 25,820 37 55

 726,134 676,506 635,420 527,537

   Per ordinary share 

 
2015 
£000 

2014  
£000 

2015 
pence 

2014 
pence 

Earnings from continuing operations 104,001 106,327 27.49 28.14

Cessation of DB pension accrual – (3,040) – (0.80)

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets (after tax) 14,121 11,820 3.73 3.14

Acquisition transaction costs (after tax) 1,423 91 0.38 0.02

Release of fair value adjustments to inventory (after tax) 474 – 0.13 –

Adjustments to contingent consideration (after tax) (1,162) (8,104) (0.31) (2.15)

(Profit)/loss on disposal of operations (after tax) (945) 470 (0.25) 0.12

Adjusted earnings 117,912 107,564 31.17 28.47
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3 Non-GAAP measures 

Return on Total Invested Capital 

Return on Capital Employed 
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Notes to the Accounts continued
 

The Board uses certain non-GAAP measures to help it effectively monitor the performance of the Group. These measures include 
Return on Total Invested Capital, Return on Capital Employed, Organic growth at constant currency, Adjusted operating profit and 
Adjusted operating cash flow. 

* The ROTIC and ROCE measures are now expressed as a percentage of the average of the current year’s and prior year’s Total Invested Capital and Capital Employed 
respectively. Using an average as the denominator is considered to be more representative. The 2013 Total Invested Capital and Capital Employed balances were 
£625,287,000 and £188,701,000 respectively. 

** Adjustments include the amortisation of acquired intangible assets; acquisition items; profit or loss on disposal of operations; and the effects of closure to future benefit 
accrual of the defined benefit pension plans net of associated costs (prior year only). 

*** Includes goodwill amortised prior to 3 April 2004 and goodwill taken to reserves. 

  

 
2015 
£000 

(Restated)*
2014 
£000 

Post-tax profit before adjustments** 117,912 107,564

Total shareholders’ funds 548,948 486,000

Add back retirement benefit obligations 66,790 36,849

Less associated deferred tax assets (13,085) (7,372)

Cumulative amortisation of acquired intangible assets 83,958 61,324

Historical adjustments to goodwill*** 89,549 89,549

Total Invested Capital 776,160 666,350

Average Total Invested Capital 721,255 645,819

Return on Total Invested Capital (ROTIC) 16.3% 16.7%

 
2015 
£000 

(Restated)*
2014 
£000 

Operating profit before adjustments**, but after share of results of associates 158,564 144,967

Computer software costs within intangible assets 2,835 2,810

Capitalised development costs within intangible assets 15,865 12,981

Other intangibles within intangible assets 450 8

Property, plant and equipment 86,303 74,417

Inventories 79,734 71,034

Trade and other receivables 156,464 135,177

Trade and other payables (102,717) (88,291)

Current provisions (11,746) (4,482)

Net tax liabilities (12,385) (11,168)

Non-current trade and other payables (3,756) (3,564)

Non-current provisions (1,549) (6,777)

Add back contingent purchase consideration 9,650 7,562

Capital Employed 219,148 189,707

Average Capital Employed 204,428 189,204

Return on Capital Employed (ROCE) 77.6% 76.6%

Notes to the Accounts continued
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Organic growth at constant currency 

Adjusted operating profit 

Adjusted operating cash flow 
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Organic growth at constant currency measures the change in revenue and profit from continuing Group operations. The effect 
of acquisitions made during the financial year has been equalised by adjusting the current year results for pro-rated contributions 
based on their revenues and profits before taxation at the dates of acquisition. The results of disposals made in the financial year 
have been adjusted from the prior year reported revenue and profit before taxation. The effects of currency changes are removed 
through restating the current year revenue and profit before taxation at the prior year exchange rates. Organic growth at constant 
currency has been calculated as follows: 

* Adjustments include the amortisation of acquired intangible assets; acquisition items; profit or loss on disposal of operations; and the effects of closure to future benefit 
accrual of the defined benefit pension plans net of associated costs (prior year only). 

 

  

 Revenue Adjusted profit* before taxation 

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 % growth 

2015  
£000 

2014 
£000 % growth 

Continuing operations 726,134 676,506 153,618 140,249

Acquired and disposed revenue/profit (35,489) (6,441) (7,394) (983)

Organic growth  690,645 670,065 3.1% 146,224 139,266 5.0%

Constant currency adjustment 12,114 – 3,071 –

Organic growth at constant currency 702,759 670,065 4.9% 149,295 139,266 7.2%

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Operating profit 137,063 143,571

Add back: 

Acquisition items 1,483 (12,478)

Effects of closure to future benefit accrual of defined benefit pension plans – (3,948)

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 19,954 17,515

Adjusted operating profit 158,500 144,660

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Net cash from operating activities (note 25) 137,231 121,538

Add back: 

Taxes paid 30,824 28,351

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,411 1,708

Less: 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (22,164) (15,838)

Purchase of computer software and other intangibles (1,403) (1,529)

Development costs capitalised (7,213) (5,196)

Adjusted operating cash flow 138,686 129,034

Cash conversion % (adjusted operating cash flow/adjusted operating profit) 87% 89%
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4 Finance income 

5 Finance expense 

6 Profit before taxation  
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Notes to the Accounts continued
 

Profit before taxation comprises: 

Included within administrative expenses are the amortisation of acquired intangible assets, acquisition items, and the effects of closure 
to future benefit accrual of the defined benefit pension plans (prior year only). 

  

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Interest receivable 134 252

Fair value movement on derivative financial instruments 33 370

 167 622

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts 3,090 2,691

Amortisation of finance costs 530 599

Net interest charge on pension plan liabilities 1,419 1,875

Other interest payable 28 25

 5,067 5,190

Unwinding of discount on provisions 46 150

 5,113 5,340

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Revenue 726,134 676,506

Direct materials/direct labour (257,231) (240,584)

Production overhead (85,641) (81,403)

Selling costs (98,788) (87,385)

Distribution costs (15,868) (15,448)

Administrative expenses (131,543) (108,115)

Operating profit 137,063 143,571

Share of results of associates 64 307

Profit/(loss) on disposal of operations 1,430 (483)

Net finance expense (4,946) (4,718)

Profit before taxation 133,611 138,677

Notes to the Accounts continued
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7 Employee information 
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* A further £7,213,000 (2014: £5,196,000) of development costs has been capitalised in the year. See note 12. 

The average number of persons employed by the Group (including Directors) by entity location was: 

 

  

  
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Profit before taxation is stated after 
charging/(crediting):    

Depreciation  14,005 13,625

Amortisation  26,670 22,685

Impairment of internally generated capitalised 
development costs  236 – 

Research and development*  27,394 26,929

Foreign exchange (gain)/loss  (1,765) 1,385

(Profit)/loss on disposal of operations  (1,430) 483

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment and 
computer software  (590) (26)

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense  348,170 326,917

Staff costs (note 7)  199,763 180,905

Auditor’s remuneration Audit services to the Company 162 159

 Audit of the Company’s subsidiaries 641 600

 Total audit fees 803 759

  

 Interim agreed upon procedures 18 20

 Tax compliance services – 1

 Tax advisory services 133 11

 Other services 1 18

 Total non-audit fees 152 50

  

 Audit of Group pension plan 20 15

 Total fees 975 824

  

Operating lease rents: Property 8,888 8,027

 Other 921 942

 
2015 

Number 
2014 

Number 

United States of America 1,609 1,538

Mainland Europe 797 794

United Kingdom 1,895 1,723

Asia Pacific 1,011 936

Other countries 16 8

 5,328 4,999
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7 Employee information continued 

8 Directors’ remuneration 
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Notes to the Accounts continued
 

The average number of persons employed by the Group (including Directors) by employee location was: 

Group employee costs comprise: 

The remuneration of the Directors is set out on pages 81 to 90 within the Remuneration Report described as being audited and forms 
part of these financial statements. 

Directors’ remuneration comprises: 

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Wages, salaries and fees 3,063 2,671

Pension costs  12 56

Share-based payment charge 1,233 1,227

 4,308 3,954
 

  

 
2015 

Number 
2014 

Number 

United States of America 1,491 1,512

Mainland Europe 770 782

United Kingdom 1,947 1,660

Asia Pacific 1,064 994

Other countries 56 51

 5,328 4,999

 
2015 
£000 

2014
£000 

Wages and salaries 164,581 148,286

Social security costs 23,429 21,428

Pension costs (note 28) 7,117 6,695

Share-based payment charge (note 23) 4,636 4,496

 199,763 180,905

Notes to the Accounts continued
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9 Taxation 
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*  Adjustments include the amortisation of acquired intangible assets; acquisition items; profit or loss on disposal of operations; the effects of closure to future benefit 
accrual of the defined benefit pension plans net of associated costs (prior year only). 

 

  

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Current tax 

UK corporation tax at 21% (2014: 23%) 9,397 9,465

Overseas taxation 24,064 20,872

Adjustments in respect of prior years 62 (492)

Total current tax charge 33,523 29,845

Deferred tax 

Origination and reversal of timing differences (4,075) 2,626

Adjustments in respect of prior years 162 (121)

Total deferred tax (credit)/charge (3,913) 2,505

Total tax charge recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement 29,610 32,350

Reconciliation of the effective tax rate: 

Profit before tax  133,611 138,677

 

Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 21% (2014: 23%) 28,058 31,896

Overseas tax rate differences 8,047 5,665

Permanent differences (6,719) (4,598)

Adjustments in respect of prior years 224 (613)

 29,610 32,350

Effective tax rate after adjustments* 22.2% 23.3%

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Profit before tax and adjustments* 153,618 140,249

Total tax charge on profit before adjustments* 35,706 32,685

Effective tax rate 23.2% 23.3%

121Halma plc Annual Report and Accounts 2015

S
trategic R

ep
ort 

G
overnance 

Financial S
tatem

ents 



9 Taxation continued 

10 Dividends 
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Notes to the Accounts continued
 

In addition to the amount charged to the Consolidated Income Statement, the following amounts relating to tax have been recognised 
directly in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure: 

In addition to the amounts charged to the Consolidated Income Statement and the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure, the following amounts relating to tax have been recognised directly in equity: 

The proposed final dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 23 July 2015 and has not been 
included as a liability in these financial statements. 

  

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Deferred tax (note 21)  

Retirement benefit obligations (6,791) 1,570

Short-term timing differences 23 129

 (6,768) 1,699

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Current tax  

Excess tax deductions related to share-based payments on exercised options 1,044 997

Deferred tax (note 21)  

Change in estimated excess tax deductions related to share-based payments 291 295

 1,335 1,292

 Per ordinary share   

 
2015 

pence 
2014  

pence 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Amounts recognised as distributions to shareholders in the year   

Final dividend for the year to 29 March 2014 (30 March 2013) 6.82 6.37 25,799 24,049

Interim dividend for the year to 28 March 2015 (29 March 2014) 4.65 4.35 17,600 16,436

 11.47 10.72 43,399 40,485

Dividends declared in respect of the year   

Interim dividend for the year to 28 March 2015 (29 March 2014) 4.65 4.35 17,600 16,436

Proposed final dividend for the year to 28 March 2015 (29 March 2014) 7.31 6.82 27,652 25,799

 11.96 11.17 45,252 42,235

Notes to the Accounts continued
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11 Goodwill  

Key assumptions used in ‘value in use’ calculations 
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The Group identifies cash generating units (CGUs) at the operating company level as this represents the lowest level at which cash 
flows are largely independent of other cash flows. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the 
groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from that business combination. 

Before recognition of any impairment losses, the carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated as follows: 

Goodwill values have been tested for impairment by comparing them against the value in use in perpetuity of the relevant CGUs. The 
value in use calculations were based on projected cash flows, derived from the latest budget approved by the Board, discounted at 
CGU specific, risk adjusted, discount rates to calculate their net present value.  

The calculation of ‘value in use’ is most sensitive to the following assumptions: 

 CGU specific operating assumptions that are reflected in the budget period for the financial year to March 2016; 
 Discount rates; 
 Growth rates used to extrapolate risk adjusted cash flows beyond the budget period. 

  

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Cost 

At beginning of year 335,278 351,785

Additions (note 24) 53,026 1,649

Exchange adjustments 17,886 (18,156)

At end of year 406,190 335,278

Provision for impairment 

At beginning and end of year – –

Carrying amounts 406,190 335,278

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Process Safety 

Gas Detection – –

Bursting Discs 7,826 6,977

Safety Interlocks and Corrosion Monitoring 51,826 7,357

 59,652 14,334

Infrastructure Safety 

Fire 22,711 12,172

Doors, Security and Elevators 63,912 68,465

 86,623 80,637

Medical 

Health Optics 125,581 117,571

Fluid Technology 34,746 31,095

 160,327 148,666

Environmental & Analysis 

Water 28,089 27,252

Photonics 58,931 53,184

Environmental Monitoring 12,568 11,205

 99,588 91,641

Total Group 406,190 335,278
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11 Goodwill continued 

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions  
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Notes to the Accounts continued
 

CGU specific operating assumptions are applicable to the budgeted cash flows for the year to March 2016 and relate to revenue 
forecasts, expected project outcomes and forecast operating margins in each of the operating companies. The relative value ascribed 
to each assumption will vary between CGUs as the budgets are built up from the underlying operating companies within each CGU.  
A short-term growth rate is applied to the March 2016 budget to derive the cash flows arising in the year to March 2017 and a long-
term rate is applied to these values for the year to March 2018 and onwards, as described below. 

Discount rates are based on estimations of the assumptions that market participants operating in similar sectors to Halma would 
make, using the Group’s economic profile as a starting point and adjusting appropriately. The Directors do not currently expect any 
significant change in the present base discount rate of 9.72% (2014: 10.65%). The base discount rate, which is pre-tax and is based 
on short-term variables, may differ from the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) used in long-term return measures such as 
ROTIC. Discount rates are adjusted for economic risks that are not already captured in the specific operating assumptions for each 
CGU. This results in the impairment testing using discount rates ranging from 10.10% to 12.91% (2014: 10.52% to 13.70%) across 
all CGUs. 

CGUs to which 10% or more of the total goodwill balance is allocated are deemed to be significant. The assumptions used to 
determine value in use for these CGUs are: 

* Safety Interlocks and Corrosion Monitoring was not a significant CGU in the prior year. 

Short-term growth rates are based on sectoral organic growth rates achieved in the current year, but are capped at the Group’s 
overall current year organic growth rate to ensure that future uncertainties are adequately reflected. Long-term growth rates are 
capped at the weighted average GDP growth rates of the markets that the Group sells into. 

Management believes that no reasonable potential change in any of the above key assumptions would cause the carrying value of any 
unit to exceed its recoverable amount. 

  

Significant CGU 

Risk adjusted discount rate Short-term growth rates Long-term growth rates 

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 

Safety Interlocks and Corrosion Monitoring* 11.49% 11.24% 7.20% – 2.79% –

Doors, Security and Elevators 10.58% 13.70% 7.20% 5.09% 2.15% 2.14%

Health Optics 12.91% 12.88% 7.20% 1.49% 2.35% 2.35%

Photonics 11.68% 11.61% (3.26%) 2.07% 2.17% 2.16%

Notes to the Accounts continued
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12 Other intangible assets 
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1 Customer and supplier relationship assets are amortised over their useful economic lives estimated to be between three and ten years. Within this balance individually 
material balances relate to Medicel: £7,205,000 (2014: £8,193,000), MST: £6,743,000 (2014: £6,796,000) and RCS: £15,090,000 (2014: £nil). The remaining 
amortisation periods for these assets are six years, seven years and nine years respectively. 

2 Technical know-how assets are amortised over their useful economic lives, estimated to be between three and ten years. Within this balance the only individually material 
item relates to RCS which has a carrying value of £10,466,000 (2014: £nil) and nine years remaining to amortise. 

3 Trademarks, brands and patents (which include protected intellectual property) are amortised over their useful economic lives estimated to be between eight and  
ten years. There are no individually material items within this balance. 

4 Internally generated capitalised development costs are amortised over their useful economic lives estimated to be three years. There are no individually material items 
within this balance, which comprises capitalised costs arising from the development phase of the R&D projects undertaken by the Group. 

5 Other intangibles comprise licence and product registration costs amortised over their useful economic lives estimated to be between three and five years. 
6 The net transfer from property, plant and equipment and computer software to internally generated capitalised development costs relates to project specific assets. 

 Acquired intangible assets      

 

Customer 
and supplier  
relationships1 

£000 

Technical 
know- 

how2

£000 

Trademarks, 
brands and 

 patents3

£000 
Total 
£000 

Internally 
generated 
capitalised 

development 
 costs4 

£000 

Computer 
software 

£000 

Other 
intangibles5

£000 
Total 
£000 

Cost            

At 30 March 2013 117,289  12,915 35,897 166,101 32,816  10,448  448 209,813 

Transfer between category6 – – – – – 586 (51) 535 

Assets of businesses acquired  806 404 234 1,444 – – – 1,444

Additions at cost – – – – 5,196 1,529 – 6,725 

Exchange adjustments (6,436) (963) (1,867) (9,266) (784) (441) (34) (10,525)

At 29 March 2014 111,659 12,356 34,264 158,279 37,228 12,122 363 207,992 

Transfer between category6 – – – – 225 (21) – 204 

Assets of businesses acquired  
(note 24) 20,003  10,194 2,137 32,334 1,196  435  147 34,112 

Assets of businesses sold  – – – – – (263)  – (263) 

Additions at cost – – – – 7,213 1,021 382 8,616 

Disposals and retirements – – – – (465) (385) – (850)

Exchange adjustments 9,250 2,502 1,134 12,886 90 241 74 13,291 

At 28 March 2015 140,912 25,052 37,535 203,499 45,487 13,150 966 263,102 

Accumulated amortisation            

At 30 March 2013 30,082  4,977 11,091 46,150 20,839  8,065  302 75,356 

Transfer between category  – – – – – 428 – 428 

Charge for the year 12,009 1,455 4,051 17,515 3,922 1,168 80 22,685 

Exchange adjustments (1,503) (373) (465) (2,341) (514) (349) (27) (3,231)

At 29 March 2014 40,588 6,059 14,677 61,324 24,247 9,312 355 95,238 

Charge for the year 13,425 2,406 4,123 19,954 5,390 1,211 115 26,670 

Impairment loss recognised – – – – 236 – – 236 

Assets of business sold – – – – – (143) – (143)

Disposals and retirements – – – – (465) (384) – (849)

Exchange adjustments 2,283 669 (272) 2,680 214 319 46 3,259 

At 28 March 2015 56,296 9,134 18,528 83,958 29,622 10,315 516 124,411 

Carrying amounts            

At 28 March 2015 84,616 15,918 19,007 119,541 15,865 2,835 450 138,691 

At 29 March 2014 71,071 6,297 19,587 96,955 12,981 2,810 8 112,754 
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13 Property, plant and equipment 
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Notes to the Accounts continued
 

1 Included within freehold land and buildings is £3,497,000 (2014: £nil) of assets under construction. 

 

  

 Land and buildings Plant, 
equipment 

and vehicles 
£000 

 

 
Freehold1

£000 
Long leases 

£000 
Short leases  

£000 
Total
£000 

Cost      

At 30 March 2013 36,037 2,894 7,331 122,186 168,448

Transfer between category (11) 8 105 (637) (535)

Assets of businesses acquired – – – 196 196 

Additions at cost 73 615 536 14,614 15,838 

Disposals and retirements (856) (46) (383) (5,880) (7,165)

Exchange adjustments (869) (151) (281) (5,140) (6,441)

At 29 March 2014 34,374 3,320 7,308 125,339 170,341

Transfer between category – 1,158 (11) (1,351) (204)

Assets of businesses acquired (note 24) 366 29 48 1,895 2,338 

Assets of business sold – – (59) (660) (719)

Additions at cost 4,868 495 2,059 14,742 22,164 

Disposals and retirements (171) (159) (1,617) (9,006) (10,953)

Exchange adjustments 319 314 245 3,986 4,864 

At 28 March 2015 39,756 5,157 7,973 134,945 187,831 

Accumulated depreciation      

At 30 March 2013 9,584 1,250 4,982 75,907 91,723

Transfer between category (8) – 81 (501) (428)

Charge for the year 690 318 657 11,960 13,625 

Disposals and retirements (432) (46) (383) (4,611) (5,472)

Exchange adjustments (329) (71) (209) (2,915) (3,524)

At 29 March 2014 9,505 1,451 5,128 79,840 95,924

Charge for the year 669 352 818 12,166 14,005 

Assets of business sold – – (28) (283) (311)

Disposals and retirements (124) (158) (1,606) (8,296) (10,184)

Exchange adjustments 84 104 144 1,762 2,094 

At 28 March 2015 10,134 1,749 4,456 85,189 101,528 

Carrying amounts      

At 28 March 2015 29,622 3,408 3,517 49,756 86,303 

At 29 March 2014 24,869 1,869 2,180 45,499 74,417 

Notes to the Accounts continued
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14 Associates 
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On 2 May 2014, the Group disposed of its 50% interest in the equity of PSRM Immobilien AG (PSRM), as part of the transaction in 
which the Group acquired Plasticspritzerei AG. Until its disposal, PSRM was treated as an associate, and not a subsidiary, because 
the party holding the remaining 50% was considered to exert more control. 

On the 14 July 2014, the Group also disposed of 12,517 shares in Optomed Oy (Optomed), representing 10.72% of its shareholding 
in the associate. The Group’s residual interest in Optomed is 33.07%. As one of the largest shareholders, the Group continues to 
exercise significant influence, but not control, over the company and so continues to apply the equity method of accounting for its 
interest. See note 29 for further details. 

PSRM and Optomed have a 31 December year end. However, results coterminous with the Group’s year end have been consolidated 
based on the Group’s remaining share of each associate. 

Details of the Group’s associate held at 28 March 2015 are as follows: 

The Group owns 104,210 (2014: 116,727) Class A shares in Optomed out of a total of 315,110 (2014: 285,540) shares in issue 
(Class A and B shares). Each A and B share entitles the holder to one vote. 

  

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Interests in associates 

At beginning of the year 5,088 4,792

Disposal cost of investments (951) –

Exchange adjustments 35 (11)

Group’s share of profit of associates 64 307

At end of year 4,236 5,088

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Aggregated amounts relating to associates 

Total assets 4,424 5,021

Total liabilities (2,530) (4,802)

Net assets 1,894 219

Group’s share of net assets of associates 626 103

 

Total revenue 3,333 2,399

Profit 193 591

Group’s share of profit of associates 64 307

Name of associate Country of incorporation Proportion of ownership interest Principal activity 

Optomed Oy Finland 33.07% Design, manufacture and selling
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15 Inventories 

16 Trade and other receivables 
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Notes to the Accounts continued
 

The above is stated net of provision for slow-moving and obsolete stock, movements of which are shown below:  

Previous write-downs against inventory have been reversed as a result of increased sales in certain markets or where previously 
written down inventories have been disposed. 

There is no material difference between the balance sheet value of inventories and their cost of replacement. None of the inventory 
has been pledged as security. 

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows: 

Impairment charges are recorded against the trade receivables which the Group believes may not be recoverable. In the case of trade 
receivables that are past due, management makes an assessment of the risk of non-collection, taking into account factors such as 
previous default experience, any disputes or other factors delaying payment and the risk of bankruptcy or other failure of the customer 
to meet their obligations. For trade receivables that are not past due, taking into account good historical collection experience, 
management records an impairment charge only where there is a specific risk of non-collection. 

The fair value of trade and other receivables approximates to book value due to the short-term maturities associated with these items. 
There is no impairment risk identified with regards to prepayments and accrued income or other receivables where no amounts are 
past due. 

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Raw materials and consumables 43,480 40,248

Work in progress 8,439 7,161

Finished goods and goods for resale 27,815 23,625

 79,734 71,034

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

At beginning of the year 10,220 10,631

Amounts reversed against inventories previously impaired and utilisation (307) (606)

Write downs of inventories recognised as an expense  1,743 548

Recognition of provisions for businesses acquired 653 116

De-recognition of provisions for businesses disposed (197) –

Exchange adjustments 488 (469)

At end of the year 12,600 10,220

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Trade receivables 141,551 123,295

Allowance for doubtful debts (2,802) (2,353)

 138,749 120,942

Other receivables 5,293 4,099

Prepayments and accrued income 12,422 10,136

 156,464 135,177

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

At beginning of the year 2,353 2,445

Net impairment loss recognised  923 355

Amounts recovered against trade receivables previously written down (641) (465)

Recognition of provisions for businesses acquired 151 85

De-recognition of provisions for businesses disposed (3) –

Exchange adjustments 19 (67)

At end of the year 2,802 2,353

Notes to the Accounts continued
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17 Trade and other payables: falling due within one year 

18 Borrowings 
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The ageing of trade receivables was as follows: 

Information concerning the security, currency, interest rates and maturity of the Group’s borrowings is given in note 26. 

  

 Gross trade receivables 
Trade receivables net of 

doubtful debts 

 
2015 
£000 

2014  
£000 

2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Not yet due 105,649 95,920 105,463 95,834

Up to one month overdue 22,178 18,621 22,054 18,509

Up to two months overdue 4,413 2,776 4,346 2,690

Up to three months overdue 1,999 1,441 1,861 1,361

Over three months overdue 7,312 4,537 5,025 2,548

 141,551 123,295 138,749 120,942

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Trade payables 57,633 50,270

Other taxation and social security 4,673 4,398

Other payables 2,888 3,342

Accruals and deferred income 37,399 30,022

Deferred government grant income 124 259

 102,717 88,291

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Loan notes falling due within one year – 2,731

Overdrafts 1,705 1,405

Total borrowings falling due within one year 1,705 4,136

Loan notes falling due after more than one year 657 –

Unsecured bank loans falling due after more than one year 139,762 104,891

Total borrowings falling due after more than one year 140,419 104,891

 142,124 109,027
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19 Provisions 

Contingent purchase consideration 

Dilapidations and empty property provisions 

Product warranty 
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Notes to the Accounts continued
 

Provisions are presented as: 

 

*  Comprises £6,054,000 contingent purchase consideration arising on the acquisition of Advanced Electronics Limited and £642,000 current provisions acquired.  
See note 24. 

The provision at the beginning of the year comprised £1,389,000 falling due within one year and £6,173,000 falling due after one year. 
In the current financial year, the additional provision related mainly to a change in estimate in relation to the acquisition in the prior year 
of Microsurgical Technologies Limited (MST) from $6,504,000 to $9,061,000. £6,054,000 was provided on the acquisition of 
Advanced Electronics Limited (Advanced) (see note 24), of which £2,800,000 was settled during the year. A payment of £1,000,000 
was also made in respect of ASL Holdings Limited (ASL), a prior year acquisition. These payments represent substantially all of the 
current year utilisation of £4,002,000. The £2,311,000 release of provision related mainly to a revision to the estimate for the second 
earn out payment for the acquisition of ASL from £2,500,000 to £197,000.  

Of the closing total provision of £9,650,000, £9,484,000 is due within one year mainly for the acquisitions of Advanced and MST, 
£3,356,000 and £6,123,000 respectively. The balance, relating mainly to ASL, is due after one year. The MST balance was settled 
on 22 May 2015.  

Dilapidations and empty property provisions exist where the Group has lease contracts under which the unavoidable costs of meeting 
its obligations under the contracts exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under them. The provisions comprise the 
Directors’ best estimates of future payments: 

a) to restore the fabric of buildings to their original condition where it is a condition of the leases prior to return of the properties; and 
b) on vacant properties, the rental costs of which are not expected to be recoverable from subleasing the properties.  

These commitments cover the period from 2015 to 2029, though they predominantly fall due within five years. 

Product warranty provisions reflect commitments made to customers on the sale of goods in the ordinary course of business and 
included within the Group companies’ standard terms and conditions. Warranty commitments cover a period of between one and five 
years and typically apply for a 12-month period. The provision represents the Directors’ best estimate of the Group’s liability based on 
past experience.  

 

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Current 11,746 4,482

Non-current 1,549 6,777

 13,295 11,259

 

Contingent 
purchase 

consideration 
£000 

Dilapidations 
and empty 

property
£000 

Product 
warranty 

£000 

Legal, 
contractual 

and other 
£000 

 
Total
£000 

At beginning of the year 7,562 1,741 1,827 129 11,259

Unwinding of discount 46 – – – 46

Additional provision in the year 1,690 119 378 21 2,208

Arising on acquisition* 6,054 247 395 – 6,696

Business sold – – (34) – (34)

Utilised during the year (4,002) (207) (166) (26) (4,401)

Released during the year (2,311) (564) (313) (25) (3,213)

Exchange adjustments 611 43 79 1 734

At end of the year 9,650 1,379 2,166 100 13,295

Notes to the Accounts continued
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Legal, contractual and other 

20 Trade and other payables: falling due after one year 

21 Deferred tax 
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Legal, contractual and other comprise mainly amounts reserved against open legal and contractual disputes. The Company has  
on occasion been required to take legal or other actions to defend itself against proceedings brought by other parties. Provisions  
are made for the expected costs associated with such matters, based on past experience of similar items and other known factors,  
taking into account professional advice received, and represent Directors’ best estimate of the likely outcome. The timing of utilisation 
of these provisions is frequently uncertain reflecting the complexity of issues and the outcome of various court proceedings and 
negotiations. Contractual and other provisions represent the Directors’ best estimate of the cost of settling future obligations.  
Unless specific evidence exists to the contrary, these reserves are shown as current. 

However, no provision is made for proceedings which have been or might be brought by other parties against Group companies 
unless the Directors, taking into account professional advice received, assess that it is more likely than not that such proceedings  
may be successful.  

 

  

 
2015
£000 

2014 
£000 

Other payables 2,891 2,879

Deferred government grant income 865 685

  3,756 3,564

 

Retirement 
benefit 

obligations  
£000 

Acquired 
intangible 

assets 
£000 

Accelerated 
tax 

depreciation 
£000 

Short–term 
timing 

differences
£000 

Share–based 
payment  

£000 

Goodwill 
timing 

differences 
£000 

Total
£000 

At 29 March 2014 7,372 (28,493) (5,336) (375) 2,066 2,316 (22,450)

Credit/(charge) to Consolidated 
Income Statement (1,078) 5,831 355 60 (27) (1,228) 3,913 

Credit/(charge) to Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive 
Income 6,791 – – (23) – – 6,768 

Credit to equity – – – – 291 – 291

Acquired (note 24) – (9,020) (70) – – – (9,090)

Exchange adjustments – (3,384) (468) 694 – 460 (2,698)

At 28 March 2015 13,085 (35,066) (5,519) 356 2,330 1,548 (23,266)

 

Retirement 
benefit 

obligations  
£000 

Acquired 
intangible 

assets 
£000 

Accelerated 
tax 

depreciation 
£000 

Short–term 
timing 

differences
£000 

Share–based 
payment  

£000 

Goodwill 
timing 

differences 
£000 

Total
£000 

At 30 March 2013 10,851 (36,207) (6,475) 678 1,547 9,158 (20,448)

(Charge)/credit to Consolidated 
Income Statement (1,909) 5,669 753 (1,040) 224 (6,202) (2,505)

Charge to Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive 
Income (1,570) – – (129) – – (1,699)

Credit to equity – – – – 295 – 295

Acquired  – (318) (16) 337 – (67) (64)

Exchange adjustments – 2,363 402 (221) – (573) 1,971

At 29 March 2014 7,372 (28,493) (5,336) (375) 2,066 2,316 (22,450)
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21 Deferred tax continued 

22 Share capital 
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Notes to the Accounts continued
 

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for 
financial reporting purposes: 

Movement in net deferred tax liability: 

The UK corporation tax rate was reduced to 21% from 23% with effect from 1 April 2014. A further reduction in the UK tax rate to 
20%, effective from 1 April 2015, was substantively enacted in the UK Finance Act 2013.  

It is likely that the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries would qualify for the UK dividend exemption such that no UK tax would 
be due upon remitting those earnings to the UK. However, £19,422,000 (2014: £21,532,000) of those earnings may still result in a tax 
liability, principally as a result of the dividend withholding taxes levied by the overseas jurisdictions in which those subsidiaries operate. 
These tax liabilities are not expected to exceed £3,399,000 (2014: £3,143,000) of which only £757,000 has been provided as the 
Group is able to control the timing of the dividends. It is not expected that further amounts will crystallise in the foreseeable future. 
Temporary timing differences in connection with interests in associates are insignificant. 

At 28 March 2015 the Group had unused capital tax losses of £479,000 (2014: £479,000) for which no deferred tax asset has 
been recognised. 

The number of ordinary shares in issue at 28 March 2015 was 379,645,332 (2014: 379,018,522), including treasury shares of 
1,371,785 (2014: 1,278,148). 

Changes during the year in the issued ordinary share capital were as follows: 

The total consideration received in cash in respect of share options exercised amounted to £893,000 (2014: £194,000). 

At 28 March 2015 no options (2014: 626,810) in respect of ordinary shares remained outstanding. Further details are given in note 23 
to the accounts. 

  

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Deferred tax liability (51,862) (43,127)

Deferred tax asset 28,596 20,677

Net deferred tax liability (23,266) (22,450)

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

At beginning of year (22,450) (20,448)
(Charge)/credit to Consolidated Income Statement:  
 UK (1,147) (2,085)
 Overseas 5,060 (420)
Credit/ (charge) to Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 6,768 (1,699)
Credit to equity 291 295
Acquired (note 24) (9,090) (64)
Exchange adjustments (2,698) 1,971

At end of year (23,266) (22,450)

 Issued and fully paid 

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Ordinary shares of 10p each 37,965 37,902

 

Issued and 
fully paid 

£000 

At 29 March 2014 37,902 

Share options exercised 63

At 28 March 2015 37,965

Notes to the Accounts continued
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23 Share-based payments 

Share incentive plan 

Share option plans 

Performance share plan 
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The total cost recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement in respect of share-based payment plans (the ‘employee share 
plans’) was as follows: 

The Group has recorded liabilities of £340,000 (2014: £432,000) in respect of the cash-settled portion of the awards granted under 
the performance share plan. 

Shares awarded under this Plan are purchased in the market by the Plan’s trustees at the time of the award and are held in trust until 
their transfer to qualifying employees; vesting is conditional upon completion of three years’ service. The costs of providing this Plan 
are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement over the three-year vesting period. 

At the beginning of the year, the Group had outstanding issued options to acquire ordinary shares in the Company under a share 
option plan, approved by shareholders in 1999. This share option plan provided for the grant of two categories of option, both of 
which were subject to performance criteria. No further awards have been made under the Company share option plan since 3 August 
2005. All options lapse if not exercised within 10 years from the date of grant. There are no remaining options over ordinary shares at 
28 March 2015. Options over 626,810 ordinary shares were exercised in the year. No options over ordinary shares lapsed in the year. 
The fair value of the options granted has been recognised in full, and accordingly there is no charge in the current or prior year. 

The performance share plan was approved by shareholders on 3 August 2005 and replaced the previous share option plans from 
which no further grants can be made. 

Awards made under this Plan vest after three years on a sliding scale subject to the Group’s relative Total Shareholder Return against 
the FTSE 250 excluding financial companies, combined with an absolute Return on Total Invested Capital measure. Awards which do 
not vest on the third anniversary of their award lapse. 

A summary of the movements in share awards granted under the performance share plan is as follows: 

The weighted average share price at the date of awards vesting during the year was 585.8p (2014: 557.7p). 

The performance shares outstanding at 28 March 2015 had a weighted average remaining contractual life of 1.4 years  
(2014: 1.4 years).  

   2015   2014 

 

Equity-
settled

£000 
Cash-settled 

£000 
Total 
£000 

Equity- 
settled  

£000 
Cash-settled 

£000 
Total 
£000 

Share incentive plan 569 – 569 641 – 641

Performance share plan 3,829 238 4,067 3,444 411 3,855

 4,398 238 4,636 4,085 411 4,496

 

2015 
Number of 

shares 
awarded 

2014 
Number of 

shares
 awarded 

Outstanding at beginning of year 3,587,492 3,802,315

Granted during the year 1,077,286 1,068,785

Vested during the year (pro-rated for ‘good leavers’) (983,228) (1,198,568)

Lapsed during the year (570,206) (85,040)

Outstanding at end of year 3,111,344 3,587,492

Exercisable at end of year – –
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23 Share-based payments continued 

24 Acquisitions  
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The fair value of these awards was calculated using an appropriate simulation method to reflect the likelihood of the market-based 
performance conditions, which attach to half of the award, being met, using the following assumptions: 

The expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Group’s share price over the previous three years. 

In accounting for acquisitions, adjustments are made to the book values of the net assets of the companies acquired to reflect their 
fair values to the Group. Acquired inventories are valued at fair value adopting Group bases and any liabilities for warranties relating to 
past trading are recognised. Other previously unrecognised assets and liabilities at acquisition are included and accounting policies 
are aligned with those of the Group where appropriate. 

The Group made three acquisitions during the year: Rohrback Cosasco Systems Inc. (RCS); Advanced Electronics Limited 
(Advanced); and Plasticspritzerei AG (Plasticspritzerei). Below are summaries of the assets and liabilities acquired and the purchase 
consideration of: 

a) The total of RCS, Advanced and Plasticspritzerei;  
b) RCS, on a standalone basis; 
c) Advanced, on a standalone basis; and 
d) Plasticspritzerei, on a standalone basis.  

 

 2015 2014 2013 

Expected volatility (%) 21% 24% 26%

Expected life (years) 3 3 3

Share price on date of grant (p) 569.9 568.5 399.9

Option price (p) Nil Nil Nil

Fair value per option (%) 62.4% 63.2% 55.3%

Fair value per option (p) 355.9 359.3 223.25

Notes to the Accounts continued
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(A) Total of RCS, Advanced and Plasticspritzerei 
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* The initial and contingent purchase considerations paid in cash were £90,828,000 and £2,601,000 respectively. The remainder was satisfied by the issue of £657,000 
of loan notes. 

Due to their contractual dates, the fair value of receivables acquired (shown above) approximate to the gross contractual amounts 
receivable. The amount of gross contractual receivables not expected to be recovered is immaterial.  

There are no material contingent liabilities recognised in accordance with paragraph 23 of IFRS 3 (revised). 

None of the goodwill arising on acquisitions in the year is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 

The three acquisitions in the year contributed £36,110,000 of revenue and £6,695,000 of profit after tax for the year ended 28 March 
2015. If these acquisitions had been held since the start of the financial year, it is estimated the Group’s reported revenue and profit 
after tax would have been £6,843,000 and £1,146,000 higher respectively. 

The combined fair value adjustments made for all acquisitions, excluding acquired intangible assets recognised and deferred tax 
thereon, resulted in net adjustments to goodwill of £3,831,000. 

  

 
Book value  

£000 

Fair value 
adjustments 

£000 
Total 
£000 

Non-current assets  

Intangible assets 3,508 30,604 34,112

Property, plant and equipment 2,286 52 2,338

Deferred tax – 226 226

Current assets   

Inventories 5,303 (388) 4,915

Trade and other receivables 9,833 (2,046) 7,787

Corporation tax 251 153 404

Cash and cash equivalents 9,515 104 9,619

Total assets 30,696 28,705 59,401

Current liabilities  

Trade and other payables (4,569) 501 (4,068)

Provisions (110) (515) (625)

Corporation tax (686) 327 (359)

Non-current liabilities  

Provisions – (17) (17)

Bank loans (468) – (468)

Retirement benefit obligations – (234) (234)

Deferred tax (28) (9,288) (9,316)

Total liabilities (5,861) (9,226) (15,087)

Net assets of businesses acquired 24,835 19,479 44,314

    

Initial consideration paid (RCS, Advanced and Plasticspritzerei)*  91,286

Contingent purchase consideration paid (Advanced)*  2,800

Contingent purchase consideration estimated to be paid (Advanced)  3,254

Total consideration  97,340

  

Goodwill arising on current year acquisitions  53,026
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24 Acquisitions continued 
Analysis of cash outflow in the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
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Notes to the Accounts continued
 

* The £3,933,000 comprises £2,731,000 loan notes and £1,202,000 contingent purchase consideration paid in respect of prior period acquisitions, all of which had been 
provided in the prior year’s financial statements. 

 

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Initial cash consideration paid  90,828 3,315

Initial cash consideration adjustment (prior year acquisition) – (337)

Cash acquired on acquisitions (9,619) (754)

Contingent consideration paid in relation to current year acquisitions 2,601 –

Contingent consideration paid and loan notes repaid in cash in relation to prior year acquisitions* 3,933 14,461

Net cash outflow relating to acquisitions (per Consolidated Cash Flow Statement) 87,743 16,685

Notes to the Accounts continued
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(B) Rohrback Cosasco Systems Inc. 
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The Group acquired the entire share capital of Rohrback Cosasco Systems Inc. and associated companies (RCS), on 30 May 2014 
for an initial cash consideration of US$116,000,000 (£69,341,000). This was subsequently adjusted by an additional US$569,000 
(£340,000) which was paid in July 2014 based on the final agreed value of the net tangible assets at the acquisition date. 

RCS forms part of the Process Safety sector and specialises in the design, manufacture and sale of pipeline corrosion monitoring 
products and systems into diverse industries including oil, gas, petrochemical, pharmaceutical and utilities. The acquisition of RCS 
expands Halma’s portfolio of critical safety products which are sold into the Energy and Utility markets to protect life and operational 
assets. The existing RCS management team remain in place and will continue to operate the business. The excess of the fair value 
of the consideration paid over the fair value of the assets acquired is represented by customer related intangibles of £14,697,000; 
marketing and technology related intangibles of £10,869,000; with residual goodwill arising of £39,537,000. The goodwill represents:  

a) the technical expertise of the acquired workforce; 
b) the opportunity to leverage this expertise across some of Halma’s businesses; and  
c) the ability to exploit the Group’s existing customer base. 

The RCS acquisition contributed £22,038,000 of revenue and £3,705,000 of profit after tax for the year ended 28 March 2015.  

If this acquisition had been held since the start of the financial year, it is estimated that the Group’s reported revenue and profit after 
tax would have been £5,525,000 and £771,000 higher respectively. 

 

 

 
Book value  

£000 

Fair value 
adjustments 

£000 
Total 
£000 

Non-current assets  

Intangible assets 420 25,146 25,566

Property, plant and equipment 441 102 543

Deferred tax – 203 203

Current assets  

Inventories 4,098 (353) 3,745

Trade and other receivables 4,191 (192) 3,999

Cash and cash equivalents 5,441 – 5,441

Corporation tax 251 (61) 190

Total assets 14,842 24,845 39,687

Current liabilities  

Trade and other payables (1,521) (169) (1,690)

Provisions – (148) (148)

Non-current liabilities  

Deferred tax (28) (7,677) (7,705)

Total liabilities (1,549) (7,994) (9,543)

Net assets of businesses acquired 13,293 16,851 30,144

  

Initial consideration (all cash)  69,681

Total consideration  69,681

  

Goodwill arising on acquisition  39,537
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24 Acquisitions continued 
(C) Advanced Electronics Limited 
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Notes to the Accounts continued
 

The Group acquired the entire share capital of Advanced Electronics Limited (Advanced) on 14 May 2014 for an initial consideration 
of £15,927,000 (£458,000 of which was satisfied by loan notes). Contingent consideration is payable over a two year period based 
on the profits of the company for the twelve months to April 2014 and eleven months to March 2015. The total estimated payable 
was £6,054,000, of which £2,601,000 has been paid in cash and £199,000 in loan notes in the year. The remainder, subject to actual 
performance, is payable in June 2015. The maximum contingent consideration payable is £10,100,000. Management’s current best 
estimate of the likely total payable has been increased by £102,000 to £6,156,000 based on performance observed to date. 

Advanced forms part of the Infrastructure Safety sector and specialises in the manufacture of networked fire detection and control 
systems. Advanced’s controllers can be integrated into system solutions using field devices and products from a broad spectrum 
of suppliers, meeting the increasing diversity of regulatory requirements across the world. Its main manufacturing facility is located 
near Newcastle in the UK with a dedicated electronics and software development facility in Barnsley. It has additional commercial 
offices in the UK, the USA and Dubai. Advanced brings to Halma complementary products that help capture the international 
growth opportunity in the increasingly regulated Fire market. The excess of the fair value of the consideration paid over the fair value 
of the assets acquired is represented by customer related intangibles of £5,306,000; marketing and technology related intangibles of 
£1,462,000; with residual goodwill arising of £9,824,000. Included in the £5,458,000 fair value adjustment to intangible assets shown 
above is a reduction of £1,310,000 to the carrying value of capitalised development costs resulting from the application of Halma 
accounting policies to the acquisition date balance. The residual goodwill represents:  

a) the technical expertise of the acquired workforce; 
b) the opportunity to leverage this expertise across some of Halma’s businesses; and  
c) the ability to exploit the Group’s existing customer base. 

The Advanced acquisition contributed £13,936,000 of revenue and £2,301,000 of profit after tax for the year ended 28 March 2015. 
If this acquisition had been held since the start of the financial year, it is estimated that the Group’s reported revenue and profit after 
tax would have been £1,318,000 and £323,000 higher respectively.  

 
Book value  

£000 

Fair value 
adjustments 

£000 
Total 
£000 

Non-current assets   

Intangible assets 3,088 5,458 8,546

Property, plant and equipment 1,834 (606) 1,228

Deferred Tax – 23 23

Current assets   

Inventories 1,124 1 1,125

Trade and other receivables 5,046 (1,890) 3,156

Corporation tax – 214 214

Cash and cash equivalents 2,259 104 2,363

Total assets 13,351 3,304 16,655

Current liabilities   

Trade and other payables (2,759) 703 (2,056)

Provisions – (363) (363)

Corporation tax (582) 582 –

Non-current liabilities   

Bank loans (468) – (468)

Deferred tax – (1,611) (1,611)

Total liabilities (3,809) (689) (4,498)

Net assets of businesses acquired 9,542 2,615 12,157

   

Initial consideration   15,927

Contingent purchase consideration paid    2,800

Contingent purchase consideration estimated to be paid   3,254

Total consideration   21,981

   

Goodwill arising on acquisition   9,824

Notes to the Accounts continued
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(D) Plasticspritzerei AG 
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On 2 May 2014 the Group acquired Plasticspritzerei AG (Plasticspritzerei), located in Wolfhalden, Switzerland at the same facility 
as another Group company, Medicel AG (Medicel). Initial consideration paid for the company was CHF8,403,000 (£5,678,000) 
including the consideration of CHF903,000 (£610,000) received for the Group’s disposal of its 50% ownership interest in its associate 
PSRM Immobilien AG (PSRM) and CHF2,687,000 (£1,815,000) paid for the industrial segment of Plasticspritzerei. The Group then 
immediately sold the industrial segment of the business to a third party, resulting in a net cash cost to the Group of CHF4,813,000 
(£3,253,000), (CHF5,716,000 (£3,863,000) excluding the proceeds from the PSRM disposal). These transactions have resulted in 
the Group owning only those assets which support Medicel’s business. Plasticspritzerei will be operated by Medicel’s management 
within Halma’s Medical sector, further expanding the Group’s manufacturing excellence in ophthalmic diagnostic and surgical 
instrumentation.  

No customer relationship intangibles were recognised as part of this transaction because Medicel is the sole customer for the 
Plasticspritzerei business acquired and the fair value of any customer relationship is therefore eliminated from a Group perspective. 
Goodwill of £3,665,000 was recognised as part of this transaction, representing the excess of the fair value of consideration 
transferred over the fair value of the assets acquired and is attributable to:  

a) the technical expertise of the acquired workforce; 
b) the opportunity to secure and advance the supply chain of Medicel AG; and 
c) the ability to exploit the Group’s existing customer base. 

The Plasticspritzerei acquisition resulted in intercompany sales to Medicel of £2,176,000 and external sales of £136,000 for the period 
ended 28 March 2015 and contributed £689,000 to profit after tax for the Group for the same period. If this acquisition had been held 
since the start of the financial year, it is estimated that the Group’s reported revenue and profit after tax would have been £nil and 
£52,000 higher respectively. 

 

 
Book value  

£000 

Fair value 
adjustments 

£000 
Total 
£000 

Non-current assets  

Property, plant and equipment 11 556 567

Current assets  

Inventories 81 (36) 45

Trade and other receivables 596 36 632

Cash and cash equivalents 1,815 – 1,815

Total assets 2,503 556 3,059

Current liabilities  

Trade and other payables (289) (33) (322)

Provisions (110) (4) (114)

Corporation tax (104) (255) (359)

Non-current liabilities  

Provisions – (17) (17)

Retirement benefit obligations – (234) (234)

Total liabilities (503) (543) (1,046)

Net assets of businesses acquired 2,000 13 2,013

  

Initial cash consideration  5,678

Total consideration  5,678

  

Goodwill arising on acquisition  3,665
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25 Notes to the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 

 
 

140 Halma plc Annual Report and Accounts 2015 

Notes to the Accounts continued
 

 

 

The net cash inflow from bank loans in 2015 comprised repayments of £35,341,000 offset by drawdowns of £68,962,000 (2014: 
net cash outflow comprising drawdowns of £57,791,000 offset by drawdowns of £7,498,000). The £9,151,000 net cash acquired 
comprised £9,619,000 cash and £468,000 of bank loans, and net overdraft disposed related to the Monitor overdraft of £36,000. 

The net of the above £4,000,000 cash outflow, £9,619,000 net cash acquired and £36,000 net overdraft disposed is equal to the 
increase in cash and cash equivalents of £5,655,000 in the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement.  

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Reconciliation of profit from operations to net cash inflow from operating activities:  
Profit on continuing operations before finance income and expense, share of results of associates and 
(profit)/loss on disposal of operations 137,063 143,571 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14,005 13,625
Amortisation of computer software 1,211 1,168
Amortisation of capitalised development costs and other intangibles 5,505 4,002
Impairment of capitalised development costs 236 –
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 19,954 17,515
Share-based payment expense in excess of amounts paid 3,803 3,470
Additional payments to pension plans (6,560) (5,892)
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment and computer software (590) (26)
Effects of closure to future benefit accruals on defined benefit pension plans – (4,246)

Operating cash flows before movement in working capital 174,627 173,187
Increase in inventories (1,097) (5,127)
Increase in receivables (10,656) (9,111)
Increase in payables and provisions 5,801 3,334
Revision to estimate of contingent consideration payable (620) (12,394)

Cash generated from operations 168,055 149,889
Taxation paid (30,824) (28,351)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 137,231 121,538

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents  
Cash and bank balances 41,230 34,531
Overdrafts (included in current borrowings) (1,705) (1,405)

Cash and cash equivalents 39,525 33,126

 

At  
29 March 

2014  
£000 

Cash flow 
£000 

Net 
 cash/(debt)

 acquired 
£000 

Net 
 overdraft 
disposed 

£000 

Loan notes 
repaid/ 

 (issued) 
£000 

Exchange 
adjustments 

£000 

At 
28 March 

2015 
£000 

Analysis of net debt    
Cash and bank balances  34,531 (3,664) 9,619 – – 744 41,230
Overdrafts (1,405) (336) – 36 – –  (1,705)
Cash and cash equivalents 33,126 (4,000) 9,619 36 – 744 39,525
Loan notes falling due within 
one year (2,731) – – – 2,731 – – 
Loan notes falling due after 
more than one year – – – – (657) – (657)
Bank loans falling due after  
more than one year (104,891) (33,621) (468) – – (782) (139,762)
Total net debt (74,496) (37,621) 9,151 36 2,074 (38) (100,894)

Notes to the Accounts continued
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26 Financial instruments 
Policy 

Capital risk management 

Foreign currency risk 

Interest rate risk 

Credit risk 

Liquidity risk 
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The Group’s treasury policies seek to minimise financial risks and to ensure sufficient liquidity for the Group’s operations and strategic 
plans. No complex derivative financial instruments are used, and no trading or speculative transactions in financial instruments are 
undertaken. Where the Group does use financial instruments these are mainly to manage the currency risks arising from normal 
operations and its financing. Operations are financed mainly through retained profits and, in certain geographic locations, bank 
borrowings. Foreign currency risk is the most significant aspect for the Group in the area of financial instruments. It is exposed to a 
lesser extent to other risks such as interest rate risk and liquidity risk. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of 
these risks and these policies are summarised below. The Group’s policies have remained unchanged since the beginning of the 
financial year. 

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted (including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement 
and the bases of recognition of income and expenses) for each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are 
disclosed in the Accounting Policies note.  

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while maximising the 
return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, 
which includes the borrowings disclosed in note 18 to the Accounts, cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity 
holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in the Consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Equity. 

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk as a consequence of both trading with foreign companies and owning subsidiaries 
located in foreign countries. 

The Group earns a significant proportion of its profit in currencies other than Sterling. This gives rise to translational currency risk, 
where the Sterling value of profits earned by the Group’s foreign subsidiaries fluctuates with the strength of Sterling relative to their 
operating (or ‘functional’) currencies. The Group does not hedge this risk, so its reported profit is sensitive to the strength of Sterling, 
particularly against the US Dollar and Euro. The Group also has transactional currency exposures. These arise on sales or purchases 
by operating companies in currencies other than the companies’ operating (or ‘functional’) currency. Significant sales and purchases 
are matched where possible and a proportion of the net exposure is hedged by means of forward foreign currency contracts. 

The Group has significant investments in overseas operations in the USA and EU, with further investments in Australia, New Zealand, 
Singapore, Switzerland, China and India. As a result, the Group’s balance sheet can be affected by movements in these countries’ 
exchange rates. Where significant and appropriate, currency denominated net assets are hedged by currency borrowings. These 
currency exposures are reviewed regularly.  

The Group is exposed to interest rate fluctuations on its borrowings and cash deposits. Where bank borrowings are used to finance 
operations they tend to be short term with floating interest rates. Borrowings used to provide longer-term funding are drawn on the 
Group’s loan facilities and have fixed interest rates with maturities of not more than one year. 

Surplus funds are placed on short-term fixed rate deposit or in floating rate deposit accounts. 

Credit risk is defined as the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. 
The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss 
from defaults. Credit ratings are supplied by independent agencies where available, and if not available, the Group uses other publicly 
available financial information and its own trading records to rate its major customers. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of 
its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved 
counterparties. Credit exposure is controlled by counterparty limits that are reviewed regularly. 

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across diverse industries and geographic areas. Ongoing credit 
evaluation is performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable and, where appropriate, credit guarantee insurance cover 
is purchased.  

The carrying amount of trade, tax and other receivables, derivative financial instruments and cash of £186,936,000 (2014: 
£160,848,000) represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk as no collateral or other credit enhancements are held. 

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit 
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.  

The Group has a syndicated revolving credit facility of £360m with its core group of five banks extending to November 2018. 
This facility is the main source of long-term funding for the Group. 
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26 Financial instruments continued 

Currency exposures 
Translational exposures 

Transactional exposures  

Interest rate risk profile 

 Notes to the Accounts continued

The Group has a strong cash flow and the funds generated by operating companies are managed regionally based on 
geographic location.  

Funds are placed on deposit with secure, highly-rated banks. For short-term working capital purposes, most operating companies 
utilise local bank overdrafts. These practices allow a balance to be maintained between continuity of funding, security and flexibility. 
Because of the nature of their use, the facilities are typically ‘on demand’ and as such uncommitted. Overdraft facilities are typically 
renewed annually. 

It is estimated, by reference to the Group’s US Dollar and Euro denominated profits, that a one per cent change in the value of the 
US Dollar relative to Sterling would have had a £561,000 (2014: £505,000) impact on the Group’s reported profit before tax; and a 
one per cent change in the value of the Euro relative to Sterling would have had a £214,000 (2014: £207,000) impact on the Group’s 
profit before tax for the year ended 28 March 2015. 

The Group has net foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities that are assets and liabilities not denominated in the functional 
currency of the underlying company. These comprise cash and overdrafts as well as certain trade receivable and payable balances. 
These foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities give rise to the net currency gains and losses recognised in the Consolidated 
Income Statement as a result of movement in exchange rates. The exposures are predominantly Euro and US Dollar. Group policy 
is for a significant portion of foreign currency exposures, including sales and purchases, to be hedged by forward foreign exchange 
contracts in the company in which the transaction is recorded.  

The Group’s financial assets which are subject to interest rate fluctuations comprise interest bearing cash equivalents which totalled 
£998,000 at 28 March 2015 (2014: £1,742,000). These comprised Sterling denominated deposits of £92,000 (2014: £92,000), and 
Euro, US Dollar and Renminbi deposits of £906,000 (2014: £1,650,000) which are placed on local money markets and earn interest 
at market rates. Cash balances of £40,232,000 (2014: £32,789,000) earn interest at local market rates. 

The financial liabilities which are subject to interest rate fluctuations comprise bank loans, bank overdrafts, loan notes and certain 
unsecured loans, which totalled £142,124,000 at 28 March 2015 (2014: £109,027,000). All bank loans bear interest at floating rates 
where the fixed period is typically no more than three months. Interest rates are based on the LIBOR of the currency in which the 
liabilities arise plus a small margin. Bank overdrafts bear interest at local base rates. The loan notes outstanding at 28 March 2015 
attract interest at 1%. 

The Group’s weighted average interest cost on net debt for the year is 1.80% (2014: 1.59%). 

For the year ended 28 March 2015 it is estimated that a general increase of one percentage point in interest rates would reduce the 
Group’s profit before tax by £1,675,000 (2014: £1,520,000).  

Maturity of financial liabilities 
With the exception of the contingent purchase consideration, other payables, provisions and borrowings due after one year, all of 
the Group’s financial liabilities mature in one year or less or on demand. The contractual contingent purchase consideration due after 
one year of £166,000 (2014: £6,173,000) falls due between one and two years. No amounts are payable after more than two years 
(2014: £nil). Other creditors due after more than one year include £1,694,000 (2014: £1,569,000) due between one and two years, 
£1,197,000 (2014: £1,308,000) due between two and five years, with the balance of £nil (2014: £2,000) due after more than five 
years. Deferred government grant income due after more than one year includes £124,000 (2014: £28,000) due between one and two 
years, £146,000 (2014: £47,000) due between two and five years, with the balance of £595,000 (2014: £610,000) due after more 
than five years. 

The Group’s bank loans are revolving credit facilities and the amount and timing of future payments and drawdowns is unknown. 
It is therefore not possible to calculate the interest arising on these loans and we have therefore not disclosed the maturity of the  
gross cash flows (including interest) in relation to these liabilities. 

142 Halma plc Annual Report and Accounts 2015 

2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Analysis of interest bearing financial liabilities 

Sterling denominated bank loans 132,000 97,000

Swiss Franc denominated bank loans 7,762 7,891

Total bank loans 139,762 104,891

Overdrafts (principally Sterling and US Dollar denominated) 1,705 1,405

Sterling denominated loan notes 657 2,731

Total interest bearing financial liabilities  142,124 109,027

Notes to the Accounts continued
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Borrowing facilities 
The Group’s principal source of long-term funding is its unsecured five-year £360m revolving credit facility, which expires in 
November 2018. The Group has additional short-term unsecured and committed US bank facilities of £16,892,000, which  
mature in June 2015 and were undrawn at 28 March 2015. 

Other short-term operational funding is provided by cash generated from operations and by local bank overdrafts. These overdraft 
facilities are uncommitted and are generally renewed on an annual or ongoing basis and hence the facilities expire within one year  
or less. 

The Group’s undrawn committed facilities available at 28 March 2015 were £237,130,000 (2014: £270,169,000) of which 
£16,892,000 (2014: £15,060,000) matures within one year and £220,238,000 (2014: £255,109,000) between two and five years. 

UK companies have cross-guaranteed £17,990,000 (2014: £22,122,000) of overdraft facilities of which £1,538,000 (2014: 
£1,100,000) was drawn. 

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities 
As at 28 March 2015 and 29 March 2014 there were no significant differences between the book value and fair value (as determined 
by market value) of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities. 

The fair value of floating and fixed rate borrowings approximates to the carrying value because interest rates are reset to market rates 
at intervals of less than one year.  

The fair value of derivative financial instruments is estimated by discounting the future contracted cash flow, using readily available 
market data, and represents a level 2 measurement in the fair value hierarchy under IFRS 7. 

Hedging 
As explained previously, the Group’s policy is to hedge significant sales and purchases denominated in foreign currency using forward 
currency contracts. These instruments are initially recognised at fair value, which is typically £nil, and subsequent changes in fair value 
are taken to the Consolidated Income Statement, unless hedge accounted. 

The following table details the forward foreign currency contracts outstanding as at the year end, which mostly mature within one year 
and therefore the cash flows and resulting effect on profit and loss are expected to occur within the next 12 months: 

Average exchange 
rate/£ Foreign currency Contract value Fair value 

2015 2014 
2015 
000 

2014 
000 

2015  
£000 

2014  
£000 

2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Forward contracts not in a designated 
cash flow hedge 

US Dollars 1.51 1.65 4,780 5,186 3,163 3,139 (67) 15

Euros 1.34 1.21 1,881 1,951 1,407 1,613 34 –

Other currencies 4,721 515 87 (25)

9,291 5,267 54 (10)

Forward contracts in a designated 
cash flow hedge 

US Dollars 1.59 1.60 7,313 7,993 4,593 4,982 (320) 173

Euros 1.29 1.18 12,289 10,334 9,563 8,724 527 174

Czech Koruna 35.73 32.82 (73,251) (109,844) (2,050) (3,347) (93) (27)

Other currencies 3,282 1,028 265 19

15,388 11,387 379 339

Total forward contracts 

US Dollars 1.56 1.62 12,093 13,179 7,756 8,121 (387) 188

Euros 1.29 1.19 14,170 12,285 10,970 10,337 561 174

Czech Koruna 35.73 32.82 (73,251) (109,844) (2,050) (3,347) (93) (27)

Other currencies 8,003 1,543 352 (6)

24,679 16,654 433 329

Amounts recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement 180 147

Amounts recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 253 182

433 329
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26 Financial instruments continued 

Market risk 

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 
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The fair values of the forward contracts are disclosed as a £1,069,000 (2014: £496,000) asset and £636,000 (2014: £167,000) liability 
in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. 

Any movements in the fair values of the contracts are recognised in equity until the hedge transaction occurs, when gains/losses are 
recycled to finance income or finance expense.  

There was no ineffectiveness arising with regards to forward contracts in a designated cash flow hedge.  

With the exception of currency exposures, the disclosures in this note exclude short-term receivables and payables. 

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The Group enters into 
derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to foreign currency risk, including: 

 forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge the exchange rate risk arising on the export of goods to and from the USA, 
Mainland Europe and the UK; and 

 foreign exchange loans to hedge the exchange rate risk arising on translation of the Group’s investment in foreign operations 
which have the Euro and Swiss Franc as their functional currencies. 

Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis as described below.  

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or in the manner in which these risks are managed  
and measured.  

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency of the USA (US Dollar currency) and the currency of Mainland Europe (Euro currency).  

The carrying amount of the Group’s US Dollar and Euro denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting date 
are as follows: 

If Sterling increased by 10% against the US Dollar and the Euro, profits before taxation and other equity would decrease as follows: 

The profit sensitivity arises mainly from the translation of overseas profits earned during the year. 10% is the sensitivity rate which 
management assesses to be a reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s profit sensitivity has increased 
against the US Dollar and Euro because more of the Group’s profits are earned in these currencies.  

  

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Analysis of movement in hedging reserves  

Amounts removed from Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and included in Consolidated 
Income Statement during the year (182) 317 

Amounts recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 253 182

Net movement in hedging reserves in the year in relation to the effective portion of changes in fair value 
of cash flow hedges 71 499 

At beginning of year 182 (317)

At end of year 253 182

 Assets Liabilities 

 
2015 
£000 

2014  
£000 

2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

US Dollar 169,047 142,678 42,793 32,433

Euro 61,741 64,525 15,488 14,818

 US Dollar Euro 

 
2015 
£000 

2014  
£000 

2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Profit 5,153 4,633 1,964 1,899

Other equity 11,478 10,022 4,205 4,519

Notes to the Accounts continued
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27 Commitments 
Capital commitments 

Commitments under operating leases 

28 Retirement benefits 

Defined contribution plans 

Defined benefit plans 
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Capital expenditure authorised and contracted at 28 March 2015 but not recognised in these accounts amounts to £5,312,000  
(2014: £746,000). 

The Group has entered into commercial leases on properties and other equipment. The former expire between April 2015 and August 
2029 and the latter between April 2015 and March 2020. Only certain property agreements contain an option for renewal at rental 
prices based on market prices at the time of exercise. 

Total payments under non-cancellable operating leases will be made as follows: 

Group companies operate both defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans. The Halma Group Pension Plan and the 
Apollo Pension and Life Assurance Plan (both UK) have defined benefit sections with assets held in separate trustee administered 
funds. Both of these sections had already closed to new entrants in 2002/03. During the prior year, following consultation with 
members, it was decided that future benefit accruals for existing members of these sections would cease from 1 December 2014. 
From that date, the former defined benefit members joined the existing defined contribution section within the Halma Group Pension 
Plan. This closure to future benefit accruals resulted in a curtailment gain in the prior year of £4,246,000 (before closure costs of 
£298,000), which was included in the Adjustments column in the Consolidated Income Statement. 

Overseas subsidiaries have adopted mainly defined contribution plans, with the exception of three small defined benefit plans  
in the Swiss entities of Medicel AG, Robutec GmbH and Plasticspritzerei AG, which was acquired during the year. 

The amount charged to the Consolidated Income Statement in respect of defined contribution plans was £5,616,000 (2014: 
£4,042,000) and represents contributions payable to these plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans. The assets 
of the plans are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of trustees. Where there are employees who leave 
the plans prior to vesting fully in the contributions, the ancillary contributions payable by the Group may be reduced by the amount of 
forfeited contributions. 

The Group’s significant defined benefit plans are for qualifying employees of its UK subsidiaries. Under the plans, the employees 
are entitled to retirement benefits of up to two thirds of final pensionable salary on attainment of a retirement age of 60, for members 
of the Executive Board, and 65, for all other qualifying employees. No other post-retirement benefits are provided. The plans are 
funded plans. 

The most recent actuarial valuation of the Halma Group Pension Plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligation 
was carried out at 1 December 2011 by Mr Adrian Gibbons, Fellow of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries. The present value of the 
defined benefit obligation, the related current service cost and the past service cost were measured using the projected unit credit 
method. The projected unit credit method is an accrued benefits valuation method in which the plan liabilities make allowance for 
projected earnings. Mr Gibbons also carried out the 1 April 2012 actuarial valuation of the Apollo Pension and Life Assurance Plan 
on the same basis. The actuarial valuations as at 1 December 2014 and 1 April 2015 for the two plans are currently being conducted. 

  

 Land and buildings Other 

 
2015 
£000 

2014  
£000 

2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Within one year 8,611 6,566 429 453

Within two to five years 19,495 13,989 503 856

After five years 6,151 2,257 – –

 34,257 22,812 932 1,309
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28 Retirement benefits continued 

Mortality assumptions: 

 

146 Halma plc Annual Report and Accounts 2015 

Notes to the Accounts continued
 

An alternative to the projected unit credit method is a valuation on a solvency basis, often estimated using the cost of buying out 
benefits at the balance sheet date with a suitable insurance company. This amount represents the amount that would be required to 
settle the plan liabilities at the balance sheet date rather than the Group continuing to fund the ongoing liabilities of the plan. The 
Group estimates that this would amount to £430m (2014: £390m). 

Investigations have been carried out within the past three years into the mortality experience of the Group’s UK defined benefit plans. 
These investigations concluded that the current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in mortality 
rates. The assumed life expectations on retirement at age 65 are: 

The sensitivities regarding the principal assumptions used to measure the UK plan liabilities are set out below: 

 

  

 2015 2014 2013 

Key assumptions used (UK plans):   

Discount rate 3.25% 4.40% 4.40%

Expected return on plan assets 3.25% 4.40% 5.33%

Expected rate of salary increases 3.00% 3.20% 3.30%

Pension increases LPI 2.5% 2.20% 2.20% 2.20%

Pension increases LPI 3.0% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Inflation – RPI 3.00% 3.20% 3.30%

Inflation – CPI 2.00% 2.20% 2.30%

 
2015  

Years 
2014 
Years 

2013 
Years 

Retiring today:   

 Males 23.4 23.4 23.3

 Females 26.0 25.9 25.8

Retiring in 20 years:   

 Males 25.3 25.2 25.1

 Females 27.9 27.9 27.8

Assumption Change in assumption Impact on plan liabilities 

Discount rate Increase/decrease by 0.5% Decrease/increase by 10.4% 

Rate of inflation Increase/decrease by 0.5% Increase/decrease by 6.8% 

Rate of salary growth Increase/decrease by 0.5% Increase/decrease by 1.7% 

Rate of mortality Increase by one year Increase by 2.8% 

Notes to the Accounts continued
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Amounts recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement in respect of the UK and Swiss defined benefit plans are as follows: 

Actuarial gains and losses have been reported in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 

The actual return on plan assets was £30.4m (2014: £7.8m). 

The cumulative amount of actuarial losses recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
since the date of transition to IFRSs is £78m (2014: £43m). 

The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the Group’s obligations in respect of its UK and Swiss defined benefit 
retirement benefit plans is as follows: 

*  At 28 March 2015, the fair value of the obligations and assets of the UK plans were £285,751,000 (2014: £223,996,000) and £220,331,000 (2014: £187,511,000) 
respectively and of the Swiss plans were £5,845,000 (2014: £3,362,000) and £4,475,000 (2014: £2,998,000) respectively. 

Under the current arrangements, cash contributions in the region of £7m per year would be made for the immediate future with the 
objective of eliminating the pension deficit. However, the schedule of future contributions is currently under discussion. 

Movements in the present value of the UK and Swiss defined benefit obligations were as follows: 

 

  

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Current service cost 1,501 2,653

Administration expenses – 638

Curtailment gain  – (4,246)

Net interest charge on pension plan liabilities 1,419 1,875

 2,920 920

 
2015* 
£000 

2014 
£000 

2013 
£000 

Present value of defined benefit obligations (291,596) (227,358) (223,447)

Fair value of plan assets 224,806 190,509 176,275

Liability recognised in the balance sheet (66,790) (36,849) (47,172)

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

At beginning of year  (227,358) (223,447)

Service cost (1,501) (2,653)

Curtailment gain – 4,246

Interest cost (9,804) (9,707)

Actuarial losses (56,830) (791)

Defined benefit obligations of business acquired (note 24) (1,256) –

Contributions from plan members (804) (1,085)

Benefits paid 6,116 5,982

Premiums paid 28 97

Foreign exchange (187) –

At end of year (291,596) (227,358)
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28 Retirement benefits continued 
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Notes to the Accounts continued
 

Movements in the fair value of the UK and Swiss plan assets were as follows: 

The net movement on actuarial gains and losses of the UK and Swiss plans was as follows: 

The analysis of the UK plan assets and the expected rate of return at the balance sheet date were as follows: 

The overall expected rate of return is a weighted average. 

In conjunction with the trustees, the Group conducts asset-liability reviews for its defined benefit pension plan. The results of 
these reviews are used to assist the trustees and the Group to determine the optimal long-term asset allocation with regard to the 
structure of the liabilities of the plan. They are also used to assist the trustees in managing the volatility in the underlying investment 
performance and risk of a significant increase in the defined benefit deficit by providing information used to determine the plan’s 
investment strategy.  

As a consequence, the Group is progressively giving more emphasis to a closer return matching of plan assets and liabilities,  
both to ensure the long-term security of its defined benefit commitment and to reduce earnings and balance sheet volatility. 

  

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

At beginning of year  190,509 176,275

Expected return on plan assets 8,385 7,832

Administrative expenses – (638)

Actuarial gains 22,035 2,851

Plan assets of business acquired (note 24) 1,022 –

Contributions from the sponsoring companies 8,060 9,183

Contributions from plan members 804 1,085

Benefits paid (6,116) (5,982)

Premiums paid (28) (97)

Foreign exchange 135 –

At end of year 224,806 190,509

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Defined benefit obligations (56,830) (791)

Fair value of plan assets 22,035 2,851

Net actuarial (losses)/gains (34,795) 2,060

 Fair value of assets 

 
2015

%
2014 

% 
2013 

% 
2015  
£000 

2014 
£000 

2013 
£000 

Equity instruments 3.25 4.40 6.43 114,314 101,155 101,355

Debt instruments 3.25 4.40 4.70 89,743 71,451 61,727

Property 3.25 4.40 3.65 16,274 14,905 13,193

 3.25 4.40 5.33 220,331 187,511 176,275

Notes to the Accounts continued
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29 Disposal of operations 

30 Events after the balance sheet date 
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The five-year history of experience adjustments was as follows: 

The estimated amount of contributions expected to be paid to the UK and Swiss plans during the year ending 2 April 2016 is £6.8m, 
subject to the finalisation of the 2014 actuarial valuation. 

The levels of contributions are based on the current service cost and the expected future cash flows of the defined benefit pension 
plan. The Group estimates the plan liabilities on average to fall due over 20 and 27 years, respectively, for the Halma and Apollo plans. 

On 30 May 2014, the Group disposed of Monitor Elevator Products, Inc. (Monitor) from its Infrastructure Safety sector. The total 
consideration was US$6,243,000 (£3,716,000), of which US$5,514,000 (£3,282,000) was received in cash at completion, before 
subsequently being reduced by US$171,000 (£102,000) for the final agreed closing net asset value. The remaining US$900,000 
was retained in escrow to be released to Halma on the second anniversary of the transaction subject to any valid warranty/indemnity 
claims being made by the purchaser. The Directors estimate that the entire US$900,000 held in escrow will be received. 

The profit on disposal was US$1,808,000 (£1,076,000), which is net of £189,000 of cumulative foreign exchange losses reclassified 
to the Income Statement and £273,000 of disposal costs. Net assets disposed were US$3,659,000 (£2,178,000). No goodwill was 
disposed of or impaired as a result of this transaction.  

The Group’s partial disposal of Optomed during the year for €876,000 (£695,000) resulted in a profit on disposal of £223,000. 
Further details are included in Note 14. 

The Group’s disposal of its 50% ownership interest in PSRM Immobilien AG (PSRM) for CHF903,000 (£610,000) resulted in a fair 
value gain being recognised in the Income Statement of £131,000. This represented the excess of the fair value of the Group’s 
interest in the associate over its carrying value. Further details are included in Note 14. 

The £4,248,000 cash inflow on disposal of operations shown in the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement represents the £3,180,000, 
£695,000 and £610,000 proceeds from the sale of the shares in Monitor, Optomed, and PSRM respectively plus the £36,000 
overdraft in Monitor less the disposal costs of £273,000.  

The total profit on disposal of operations shown in note 1 of £1,430,000 comprises £1,076,000 for the disposal of Monitor, £223,000 
for the partial disposal of shares in Optomed and £131,000 for the fair value gain recognised in relation to the disposal of PSRM. 

In the prior year, the loss on disposal relates to late transaction costs and a revision to amounts recoverable on the disposals by the 
Group, in 2012, of its Asset Monitoring businesses and Volumatic Limited. The £1,917,000 cash inflow related mainly to a release 
from escrow. Further details are provided on page 143 of the 2014 Annual Report and Accounts.  

On 19 May 2015 the Group acquired the entire membership interest of Value Added Solutions, LLC (‘VAS’) for an initial cash 
consideration of $5,000,000, adjustable based on the closing date working capital. Additionally, a performance payment of up to 
$1,500,000, based upon results achieved in the period to 1 October 2016, will be paid on 1 April 2017. 

VAS will operate as a ‘bolt-on’ to Diba Industries Inc., within Halma’s Medical sector. Diba Industries creates innovative fluid handling 
solutions that are invaluable to device OEMs, while VAS specialises in precision plastic machining, production of thermally bonded 
manifolds, and fluid component integrations. VAS will add complementary expertise, capabilities, and products that will allow Diba to 
provide broader solutions to its existing customers, as well as expand its customer base. VAS’s production facility is located in Berlin, 
CT (USA). Due to the proximity of the acquisition date to the date of the approval of the Annual Report and Accounts, it is impractical 
to provide further information.

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

2013  
£000 

2012 
£000 

2011 
£000 

Present value of defined benefit obligations (291,596) (227,358) (223,447) (185,956) (177,055)

Fair value of plan assets 224,806 190,509 176,275 152,959 140,818

Deficit in the plan (66,790) (36,849) (47,172) (32,997) (36,237)

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities  

Amount 4,271 – 246 (224) 157

Percentage of plan liabilities  1% – – – –

Experience adjustments on plan assets  

Amount  22,031 (30) (10,756) (1,804) (944)

Percentage of plan assets 10% 0% (5)% (1)% (1)%
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31 Related party transactions 
Trading transactions 

Remuneration of key management personnel 
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Notes to the Accounts continued
 

Other related parties comprises one company with a Halma employee on the board and from which the Halma subsidiary rents 
property. All the transactions above are on an arm’s length basis and on standard business terms. 

The remuneration of the Directors and Executive Board members, who are the key management personnel of the Group, is set 
out below in aggregate for each of the categories specified in IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’. Further information about the 
remuneration of individual Directors is provided in the audited part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 81 to 90. 

 

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Associated companies  

Purchases from associated companies  638 524

Amounts due to associated companies 161 56

Amounts due from associated companies – 128

  

Other related parties  

Rent charged by other related parties 113 115

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Wages and salaries 5,212 4,353

Pension costs 169 130

Share-based payment charge 1,799 1,908

 7,180 6,391

Notes to the Accounts continued
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Company Balance Sheet
 

 

The financial statements of Halma plc, company number 40932, were approved by the Board of Directors on 11 June 2015. 

Director Director 

 

 

 Notes 

28 March 
2015
£000 

29 March 
2014
£000 

Fixed assets  

Tangible assets C3 3,348 3,310

Investments C4 163,986 142,005

  167,334 145,315

Current assets  

Debtors (amounts falling due within one year) C5 45,548 43,740

Debtors (amounts falling due after more than one year) C5 415,225 344,307

Short-term deposits  92 92

Cash at bank and in hand  174 2,417

  461,039 390,556

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year  

Borrowings C6 10,675 10,998

Creditors C7 53,316 43,639

Current tax payable  3,435 3,375

  67,426 58,012

Net current assets  393,613 332,544

Total assets less current liabilities  560,947 477,859

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year  

Borrowings C6 140,419 104,891

Creditors C8 11,753 12,940

Net assets  408,775 360,028

Capital and reserves  

Share capital C10 37,965 37,902

Share premium account C11 23,608 22,778

Treasury shares C11 (8,450) (7,054)

Capital redemption reserve C11 185 185

Other reserves C11 (10,412) (7,647)

Profit and loss account C11 365,879 313,864

Shareholders’ funds C12 408,775 360,028

Company Balance sheet

151Halma plc Annual Report and Accounts 2015

S
trategic R

ep
ort 

G
overnance 

Financial S
tatem

ents 



C1 Accounting policies 
Basis of preparation 

Related parties 

Foreign currencies 

Derivative financial instruments 

Share-based payments 

Investments 

Fixed assets and depreciation 

Leases 

Pensions 

Taxation 

Bank borrowings 

Notes to the Company Accounts 

152 Halma plc Annual Report and Accounts 2015 

The separate Company financial statements are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006 and have been prepared on the 
historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain financial instruments at fair value as permitted by the Companies Act 2006, 
and comply with applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards and law. The principal Company accounting policies have been 
applied consistently throughout the current and preceding years and are described below. 

The Company is exempt under the terms of FRS 8 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ from disclosing transactions with other members of the 
Halma group. 

Transactions in foreign currency are recorded at the rate of exchange at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are reported at the rates prevailing at that date. Any gain or loss arising 
from subsequent exchange rate movements is included as an exchange gain or loss in the profit and loss account. 

The company is not in scope for FRS 29 which is applicable to all entities adopting FRS 26, with the exception of parent companies in 
respect of their single-entity financial statements, provided the entity is included in publicly available consolidated financial statements 
which include disclosures that comply with FRS 29. The Company’s consolidated accounts, found on pages 99 to 150, include 
disclosures that comply with IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (the IFRS equivalent to FRS 29). 

The Company has adopted FRS 20 and the accounting policies followed are in all material respects the same as the Group’s policy 
under IFRS 2. This policy is shown on page 133. 

Investments are stated at cost less provision for impairment. 

Fixed assets are stated at cost less provisions for impairment and depreciation which, with the exception of freehold land which is not 
depreciated, is provided on all fixed assets on the straight-line method, each item being written off over its estimated life. The principal 
annual rates used for this purpose are: 

The costs of operating leases of property and other assets are charged on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease. 

The Company makes contributions to defined contribution pension plans, which are charged against profits when they become 
payable. The Company also participates in a Group-wide defined benefit pension plan. This plan is operated on a basis that does not 
enable individual companies to identify their share of the underlying assets and liabilities, and in accordance with FRS 17 the Company 
accounts for its contributions to the plan as if it was a defined contribution plan. 

Taxation comprises current and deferred tax. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable, on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted, or substantially enacted, at the 
balance sheet date, and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

The Company provides for deferred tax because of timing differences between profits as computed for taxation purposes and profits 
as stated in the accounts, on an undiscounted basis. Deferred tax is measured at the average tax rates that are expected to apply  
in the periods in which the timing differences are expected to reverse, based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or 
substantially enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets are only recognised if recovery is considered more likely than  
not on the basis of all available evidence. 

Interest bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Finance charges, 
including direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accruals basis in profit or loss and are added to the carrying amount of the 
instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period in which they arise. 

  

Freehold property 2%

Plant, equipment and vehicles 8% to 33.3%

Notes to the Company Accounts
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C2 Result for the year 

C3 Fixed assets – tangible assets 

 

  Halma plc Annual Report and Accounts 2015 153 

As permitted by Section 408(3) of the Companies Act 2006, the Profit and Loss Account of Halma plc is not presented as part of 
these accounts. The Company has reported a profit after taxation for the financial year of £95,414,000 (2014: £99,346,000). 

Auditor’s remuneration for audit services to the Company was £162,000 (2014: £159,000). 

Total employee costs (including Directors) were: 

 

Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out on pages 81 to 90 within the Remuneration Report and form part of these financial 
statements. 

 

  

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Wages and salaries 6,539 5,329

Social security costs 615 535

Pension costs 423 499

 7,577 6,363

 
2015

 Number 
2014 

Number 

Number of employees (all in the UK) 49 43

 

Freehold 
properties  

£000 

Plant 
equipment 

and vehicles 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Cost  

At 29 March 2014 3,043 2,379 5,422

Additions at cost – 392 392

Disposals – (139) (139)

At 28 March 2015 3,043 2,632 5,675

Accumulated depreciation  

At 29 March 2014 433 1,679 2,112

Charge for the year 47 276 323

Disposals – (108) (108)

At 28 March 2015 480 1,847 2,327

Carrying amounts  

At 28 March 2015 2,563 785 3,348

At 29 March 2014 2,610 700 3,310
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C4 Investments 

Notes to the Company Accounts continued 

154 Halma plc Annual Report and Accounts 2015 

Shares in Group companies 

The increase of £21,981,000 comprises entirely the 100% acquisition of Advanced Electronics Limited (Advanced).  

The increase of £5,173,000 in the prior year related to the acquisition of Talentum Developments Limited (£3,564,000), an increase 
in investment in an existing subsidiary (£1,946,000) and £337,000 reduction in investment following the finalisation of the acquisition 
accounting for ASL Holdings Limited (ASL). 

Details of principal subsidiary companies are set out below. Halma plc owns 100% of the ordinary share capital of all its subsidiaries 
(directly, or indirectly through its intermediate holding companies). 

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under Section 410(2) of the Companies Act 2006 by providing information only 
in relation to subsidiary undertakings the results or financial position of which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the 
financial statements. 

A complete list of subsidiary and associated undertakings will be attached to the next annual return to be filed at Companies House 
following the approval of these accounts. 

Supplementary information relating to Halma’s operations is provided on pages 160 to 163. 

  

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

At cost less amounts written off at beginning of year 142,005 136,832

Increase in investments 21,981 5,173

At cost less amounts written off at end of year 163,986 142,005

Name of company 
Country of 
incorporation Name of company 

Country of 
incorporation 

Bureau D’Electronique Appliquee S.A. (BEA) Belgium Smith Flow Control Limited UK 

Rudolf Riester GmbH Germany Texecom Limited UK 

Medicel AG Switzerland Accutome, Inc. USA 

Advanced Electronics Limited UK Diba Industries, Inc. USA 

Apollo Fire Detectors Limited UK Labsphere, Inc. USA 

Avire Limited UK MicroSurgical Technology, Inc. USA 

Crowcon Detection Instruments Limited UK Ocean Optics, Inc. USA 

Elfab Limited UK Oseco Inc. USA 

Fire Fighting Enterprises Limited UK Perma Pure LLC USA 

Fortress Interlocks Limited UK Rohrback Cosasco Systems, Inc USA 

HWM-Water Limited UK SunTech Medical Inc. USA 

Keeler Limited UK Volk Optical Inc. USA 

Palintest Limited UK  
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C5 Debtors 

C6 Borrowings 

C7 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 
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Derivative financial instruments comprise Swiss Franc swap contracts. The change in the fair value of the derivative financial assets 
outstanding at the year end, and classified as fair value through profit and loss, was £129,000 gain. 

The Group’s principal source of long-term funding is its unsecured five-year £360m revolving credit facility, which expires in  
November 2018 and is therefore classified as expiring within two to five years (2014: within two to five years). At 28 March 2015 
£220,238,000 (2014: £255,109,000) remained committed and undrawn. 

The bank overdrafts, which are unsecured, at 28 March 2015 and 29 March 2014 were drawn on uncommitted facilities which all 
expire within one year, and were held pursuant to a Group pooling arrangement which offsets them against credit balances in 
subsidiary undertakings. 

The Company is part of an arrangement between UK subsidiaries whereby overdraft facilities of £17,990,000 (2014: £22,122,000)  
are cross-guaranteed. Of these facilities £64,000 (2014: £nil) was drawn. 

The loan notes issued in respect of the Advanced acquisition attract interest at 1% and are convertible into cash at par on each 
anniversary of the acquisition date until 14 May 2019. They are classified as falling due within one to two years. 

The £3,356,000 contingent consideration payable relates to the Advanced acquisition made during the year. The estimated value of 
the payment represents the Directors’ best estimate based on actual results for the period to March 2015 and is payable in June 
2015. In the prior year the balance represented amounts due in respect of the Talentum and ASL acquisitions. 

 

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Amounts falling due within one year:

Amounts due from Group companies 38,029 36,792

Derivative financial instruments 129 –

Other debtors – 2

Prepayments and accrued income 6,530 6,261

Deferred tax asset (note C9) 860 685

 45,548 43,740

Amounts falling due after more than one year: 

Amounts due from Group companies 415,225 344,307

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Falling due within one year: 

Overdrafts 10,675 10,998

Falling due after more than one year:

Loan notes 657 –

Unsecured bank loans 139,762 104,891

 140,419 104,891

Total borrowings 151,094 115,889

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Trade creditors 1,456 1,379

Amounts owing to Group companies 43,999 37,011

Other taxation and social security 1,100 1,145

Other creditors 515 1,422

Accruals and deferred income 2,890 1,216

Provision for contingent and deferred consideration 3,356 1,466

 53,316 43,639
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C8 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 

C9 Deferred tax 

C10 Share capital 
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The £197,000 provision for contingent consideration represents the Directors’ best estimate of the second tranche of payment due in 
respect of the ASL acquisition. In the prior year the payment was estimated at £2,284,000 and was shown as payable within one to 
two years. 

Deferred tax comprises short-term timing differences. 

The number of ordinary shares in issue at 28 March 2015 was 379,645,332 (2014: 379,018,522), including treasury shares of 
1,371,785 (2014: 1,278,148). Changes during the year in the issued ordinary share capital were as follows: 

The total consideration received in cash in respect of share options exercised amounted to £893,000 (2014: £194,000).  

Details of share options in issue on the Company’s share capital and share-based payments are included in note 23 to the 
Group accounts. 

 

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Amounts owing to Group companies 11,112 10,303

Provision for contingent consideration 197 2,284

Other creditors 444 353

 11,753 12,940

These liabilities fall due as follows:  

Within one to two years 641 2,637

Within two to five years – –

After more than five years 11,112 10,303

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Movement in deferred tax asset:  

At beginning of year 685 268

Credit to profit and loss account 175 417

At end of year (note C5) 860 685

 Issued and fully paid 

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

Ordinary shares of 10p each 37,965 37,902

 

Issued and 
fully paid 

2015 
£000 

At 29 March 2014  37,902

Share options exercised 63

At 28 March 2015 37,965
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C11 Reserves 

C12 Reconciliation of movement in shareholders’ funds 
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The Capital redemption reserve was created on the repurchase and cancellation of the Company’s own shares. The Other reserves 
represent the provision being established in respect of the value of equity-settled share option plans and performance share plan 
awards made by the Company. Treasury shares are the Company’s own shares purchased and are held to fulfil its obligations  
under the performance share plan. 

 

 

 Non-distributable Distributable 

 

Share 
premium 
account 

£000 

Treasury 
shares 

£000 

Capital 
redemption 

reserve  
£000 

Other 
reserves 

£000 

Total profit 
and loss 
account

£000 

At 29 March 2014 22,778 (7,054) 185 (7,647) 313,864

Profit for the financial year – – – – 95,414

Dividends paid – – – – (43,399)

Issue of shares 830 – – – –

Net movement in treasury shares – (1,396) – – –

Movement in other reserves – – – (2,765) –

At 28 March 2015 23,608 (8,450) 185 (10,412) 365,879

 
2015 
£000 

2014 
£000 

At beginning of year 360,028 305,637

Profit for the financial year 95,414 99,346

Dividends paid (43,399) (40,485)

Issue of shares 893 194

Net movement in treasury shares (1,396) (2,520)

Movement in other reserves (2,765) (2,144)

At end of year 408,775 360,028
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